
FAIRFIELD CITY COUNCIL  
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

FAIRFIELD MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
5350 PLEASANT AVENUE 

FAIRFIELD, OHIO  45014 
 

MONDAY, JANUARY 13, 2014        7:00 PM 
 
 
MAYOR………………………………….STEVE MILLER    COUNCILMEMBER AT-LARGE…CHAD OBERSON 
COUNCILMEMBER 1ST WARD……….ADAM B. JONES    COUNCILMEMBER AT-LARGE…MIKE SNYDER 
COUNCILMEMBER 2ND WARD………MARTY JUDD    COUNCILMEMBER AT-LARGE…BILL WOESTE 
COUNCILMEMBER 3RD WARD………DEBBIE PENNINGTON   CITY MANAGER………………….ARTHUR E. PIZZANO 
COUNCILMEMBER 4TH WARD………TERRY SENGER    CLERK OF COUNCIL…………….ALISHA WILSON 

LAW DIRECTOR………………….JOHN H. CLEMMONS 
 
Guidelines for Citizen Comments: Thank you for your interest and participation in city government.  Fairfield City Council’s Guidelines for Citizen 
Comments describe the rules for addressing City Council. The guidelines are posted in the Council Chambers. 
 
ADA Notice:  The City of Fairfield is pleased to provide accommodations to disabled individuals or groups and encourage full participation in city 
government.  Should special accommodations be required, please contact the Clerk of Council at 867-5383 at least 48 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Prayer/Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Roll Call 
 
4. Agenda Modifications 
 
5. Executive Session Requests 
 
6. Public Hearing(s) 
 
7. Special Presentations and Citizen Comments 
 
8. Mayor/Council Reports 

 
9. Approval of Minutes 
 

a) Regular Meeting Minutes of  December 9, 2013 
 
10. OLD BUSINESS 
 
11.  NEW BUSINESS 
 

(A) COMMUNITY & PUBLIC RELATIONS COMMITTEE 
Mike Snyder, Chairman; Bill Woeste, Vice Chairman, Debbie Pennington, Member 

 
(1) Simple Motion:  Motion to approve Council Committee Assignments dated January 1, 2014. 

 
(B) PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 

Adam Jones, Chairman; Marty Judd, Vice Chairman, Terry Senger, Member 
 

(1) Simple Motion:  Motion to approve a liquor permit application in the name of RMH Franchise Corporation, dba 
Applebees Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 5331 Pleasant Avenue, Fairfield, OH 45014 (Permit Classes: D5I and 
D6). 

 
 
 
 



Page 2  
Agenda 

Regular Meeting 
January 13, 2014 

 
(2) Ordinance to amend various other sections of the Traffic and General Offenses Codes of Ordinance No. 166-84, 

the Codified Ordinances of Fairfield, Ohio. 
 

• Motion – Read by Title Only (Optional) 
• Ordinance – First Reading 
• Motion – Suspend Second and Third Readings 
• Motion – Adoption 

 
(3) Ordinance to authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement for indigent legal representation for 2014 in 

the Fairfield Municipal Court with the Butler County Public Defender Commission/Butler County Board of 
Commissioners and declaring an emergency. 
 

• Motion – Read by Title Only (Optional) 
• Ordinance – First Reading 
• Motion – Suspend Second and Third Readings 
• Motion – Adoption 

 
(C) PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMITTEE 

Marty Judd, Chairman; Chad Oberson, Vice Chairman, Adam Jones, Member 
 

(1) Resolution permitting a Hamilton property owner at 3406 Port Union Road to receive City of Fairfield sewer 
service and declaring an emergency. 
 

• Motion – Read by Title Only (Optional) 
• Resolution – First Reading 
• Motion – Suspend Second and Third Readings 
• Motion – Adoption 

 
(D) PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 

Chad Oberson, Chairman; Mike Snyder, Vice Chairman, Bill Woeste, Member 
 

(1) Resolution declaring necessity of repairing sidewalks (including aprons). 
 

• Motion – Read by Title Only (Optional) 
• Resolution – First Reading 

 
(E) FINANCE & BUDGET COMMITTEE 

Terry Senger, Chairman; Debbie Pennington, Vice Chairman, Chad Oberson, Member 
 

(1) Non-Contractual Appropriations - $95,000 for 2014 Annual Drainage Program; $85,000 for 2014 Grounds, 
Entry-ways and Landscaping Program. 
 

• Motion – Read by Title Only (Optional) 
• Ordinance – First Reading 
• Motion – Suspend Second and Third Readings 
• Motion – Adoption 

 
12. Meeting Schedule 

Monday, January 27 Regular Meeting, 7:00 p.m. 
Monday, February 10 Regular Meeting, 7:00 p.m. 
Monday, February 24 Regular Meeting, 7:00 p.m. 
 

13. Executive Session of Council (if needed) 
14. Adjournment 



MINUTES  
REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL  

DECEMBER 9, 2013  
 
Call to Order  
Mayor Ronald A. D'Epifanio called the Regular Meeting of Council to order at 7:00 PM at the Fairfield 
Municipal Building, 5350 Pleasant Avenue.  
 
Prayer/Pledge of Allegiance  
Councilmember Jones led in prayer and his stepfather, a Retired Lt. Colonel of the US Air Force, led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Roll Call  
Clerk Wilson called the roll of Council. Present members were Councilmember Adam Jones, 
Councilmember Marty Judd, Councilmember Debbie Pennington, Councilmember Terry Senger, 
Councilmember Tim Abbott, Councilmember Mike Oler, and Councilmember Tim Meyers. 
 
Agenda Modifications  
 
Executive Session Requests  
 
Public Hearing(s)  
2014 Budget Hearing  
Mayor D'Epifanio opened the Public Hearing at 7:03 PM. The balanced budget presented to Council 
during briefings on November 25 and December 2 consists of revenues of $69.5 million, and estimated 
expenditures of $66.9 million. Approximately 53% is for personnel and personnel-related expenses. The 
largest revenue source is income tax, estimated to bring in approximately $24.7 million, split between 
the General Fund, Street Improvement Fund and Capital Improvement Fund. The reapportionment 
allowed the city to bring the reserves back to 25%. The public hearing was closed at 7:06 PM.  
 
Special Presentations and Citizen Comments  
State Rep. Wes Retherford congratulated Councilmember Judd on his re-appointment to Council and 
presented commendations to all of the outgoing Councilmembers and the Mayor, from the Ohio 
General Assembly. 
 
Kert Radel, Chamber of Commerce, thanked the outgoing Council and Mayor for their service to the City 
and work with the Chamber of Commerce. 
 
Mayor/Council Reports  
Councilmember Meyers reported that I-275 bridge is coming along nicely. 
 
Councilmember Abbott thanked Finance Director Mary Hopton and staff for their hard work on the 
budget. 
 
Councilmember Senger reported that the Miami Valley Ballet Theater presented the Nutcracker at the 
Community Arts Center last weekend and they will perform again this weekend, December 13, 14 and 
15. The Parks and Recreation Board meeting will be held next Tuesday at 6 PM at the Community Arts 
Center. 



 
Councilmember Pennington announced that Boards and Commissions applications will be available 
beginning January 2. She also commented that there was a nice article in the newspaper about 
networking featuring Chamber of Commerce president Kert Radel. 
 
Mayor D'Epifanio thanked Parks and Recreation Director Jim Bell and staff for their hard work on the 
Light Up Fairfield event on December 7. 
 
Approval of Minutes  
Regular Meeting Minutes of December 2, 2013  

• The Regular Meeting Minutes of December 2, 2013 were approved as written 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES COMMITTEE 
Marty Judd, Chairman; Tim Abbott, Vice Chairman, Tim Meyers, Member 

 
Councilmember Marty Judd, seconded by Councilmember Debbie Pennington moved to read the 
following two (2) ordinances by title only. Motion Carried 7-0. 
 
Ordinance to authorize the City Manager to execute a Community Reinvestment Area Agreement and 
an Amendment to a Community Reinvestment Area Compensation Agreement with Takumi Stamping, 
Inc. and declaring an emergency.  
 
Background: City Manager Pizzano recommended a Community Reinvestment Area Agreement and 
Amendment to a Community Reinvestment Area Compensation Agreement with Takumi Stamping, Inc. 
The company is planning an expansion of their current facility and these agreements will assist in that 
process. Legislative Action: Councilmember Judd presented the first reading of this ordinance. 
 
Councilmember Marty Judd, seconded by Councilmember Tim Abbott moved to suspend the rules 
requiring three (3) readings of this ordinance. Motion Carried 7-0. Councilmember Marty Judd, 
seconded by Councilmember Mike Oler moved to adopt . Motion Carried 7-0. ORDINANCE NO. 107-13. 
APPROVED 7-0. 
 
Ordinance to authorize the City Manager and Director of Development Services (acting in his role as CRA 
Housing Officer) to execute a Termination by the City of Fairfield, Ohio of the Community Reinvestment 
Area Agreement between the City of Fairfield, Ohio, Keystone Foods, LLC, aka The Martin-Brower 
Company LLC, DCT Port Union LLC and the Fairfield City School District Board of Education and declaring 
an emergency.  
 
Background: City Manager Pizzano recommended an ordinance to terminate agreements with Keystone 
Foods, LLC. They have not adhered to the terms of the agreement, and as a result, the state requires 
that the agreements with the company be terminated. Legislative Action: Councilmember Judd 
presented the first reading of this ordinance. 
 



Councilmember Marty Judd, seconded by Councilmember Terry Senger moved to suspend the rules 
requiring three (3) readings of this ordinance. Motion Carried 7-0. Councilmember Marty Judd, 
seconded by Councilmember Tim Abbott moved to adopt . Motion Carried 7-0. ORDINANCE NO. 108-13. 
APPROVED 7-0 
 

FINANCE & BUDGET COMMITTEE 
Tim Abbott, Chairman; Terry Senger, Vice Chairman, Mike Oler, Member 

 
Councilmember Tim Abbott, seconded by Councilmember Mike Oler moved to read the following three 
(3) ordinances by title only. Motion Carried 7-0. 
 
Ordinance to make estimated appropriations for the expenses and other expenditures of the City of 
Fairfield, Ohio during the period beginning January 1, 2014 and ending December 31, 2014.  
 
Background: City Manager Pizzano recommended an ordinance to adopt the budget that was presented 
to Council. Legislative Action: Councilmember Abbott presented the first reading of this ordinance. 
 
Councilmember Tim Abbott, seconded by Councilmember Marty Judd moved to suspend the rules 
requiring three (3) readings of this ordinance. Motion Carried 7-0. Councilmember Tim Abbott, 
seconded by Councilmember Mike Oler moved to adopt . Motion Carried 7-0. ORDINANCE NO. 109-13. 
APPROVED 7-0. 
 
Ordinance to reconcile accounts.  
 
Background: City Manager Pizzano recommended an ordinance to reconcile accounts. Legislative Action: 
Councilmember Abbott presented the first reading of this ordinance. 
 
Councilmember Tim Abbott, seconded by Councilmember Terry Senger moved to suspend the rules 
requiring three (3) readings of this ordinance. Motion Carried 7-0. Councilmember Tim Abbott, 
seconded by Councilmember Terry Senger moved to adopt . Motion Carried 7-0. ORDINANCE NO. 110-
13. APPROVED 7-0. 
 
Non-Contractual Appropriations - $34,000 for emergency water main improvements on Shearwater 
Drive.  
 
Background: City Manager Pizzano recommended an appropriation for emergency water main 
improvements on Shearwater Drive. Legislative Action: Councilmember Abbott presented the first 
reading of this ordinance. 
 
Councilmember Tim Abbott, seconded by Councilmember Debbie Pennington moved to suspend the 
rules requiring three (3) readings of this ordinance. Motion Carried 7-0. Councilmember Tim Abbott, 
seconded by Councilmember Mike Oler moved to adopt . Motion Carried 7-0. ORDINANCE NO. 111-13. 
APPROVED 7-0. 
 
Meeting Schedule  

• Monday, December 30 Oath of Office Ceremony, 6:00 p.m.  
• Monday, January 13 Council-Manager Briefing, 6:00 p.m.; Regular Meeting, 7:00 p.m.  



• Monday, January 27 Council-Manager Briefing, 6:00 p.m.; Regular Meeting, 7:00 p.m.  
 
Mayor D'Epifanio opened the meeting for comments for the outgoing council. 
 
Councilmember Meyers thanked the city for electing him and giving him the opportunity to serve the 
community. He thanked Don Hassler for helping him in his campaign and building a great friendship. He 
also thanked veterans for the freedom of democracy in the United States and thanked his family for 
their support of his position. 
 
Councilmember Mike Oler thanked the Council for a great time of working together for the benefit of 
Fairfield residents. He has enjoyed his time and Fairfield has been a wonderful place for him to live, raise 
a family and work. He thanked the City staff for being such great employees and providing great service 
to the residents. 
 
Councilmember Tim Abbott thanked his wife for being at the meeting, despite having suffered a serious 
injury after falling. He noted that former mayor Eric Cooke was a great mentor to him in his campaign 
for City Council. He advised the new council to rely on the city staff to run the city and always do what is 
best for the residents. 
 
Mayor D'Epifanio advised incoming Council to remember that they are not in this position for 
themselves, but to do what is right for the City. He thanked the staff for their hard work and the way 
they run the departments, especially City Manager Art Pizzano. He has enjoyed his years of service very 
much. 
 
Mayor D'Epifanio presented the outgoing Council with Keys to the City and City Manager Pizzano 
presented plaques of recognition of their years of service. 
 
Councilmembers Jones, Judd, Pennington and Senger thanked the outgoing Council and Mayor 
D'Epifanio for their hard work and dedication to the City of Fairfield. 
 
Councilmember Senger and City Manager Pizzano presented Mayor D'Epifanio with a plaque recognizing 
his many years of service to the City of Fairfield. They thanked him for the countless hours he has spent 
assisting residents and his recognition of veterans for their service to our country. City Manager Pizzano 
also thanked the Council for working so well with the staff. 
 
Executive Session of Council (if needed)  
 
Adjournment  
The Regular Meeting of Council adjourned at 8:30 PM. 
 
ATTEST:  

_____________________________   _____________________________ 
Clerk of Council      Mayor's Approval 
Date Approved__________________ 
 
 























1 
 

301.04 BICYCLE; MOTORIZED BICYCLE. 
 (a) "Bicycle" means every device, other than a [tricycle] DEVISE THAT IS 
designed solely for use as a play vehicle by a child, THAT IS propelled solely by human power, 
upon which [any] A person may ride [having two tandem wheels or one wheel in the front 
and two wheels in the rear or two wheels in the front and one wheel in the rear, any of] 
AND THAT HAS TWO OR MORE WHEELS ANY OF which is more than fourteen inches 
in diameter. 
(ORC 4511.01(G)) 
 [No further changes to this section.] 
 
 
313.03 TRAFFIC SIGNAL INDICATIONS 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (c)] 
(c) Steady Red Signal Indication: 

(1) A. Vehicular traffic facing a steady circular red signal indication,  
unless entering the intersection to make another movement 
permitted by another signal indication, shall stop at a clearly 
marked stop line; but if there is no stop line, traffic shall stop 
before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection; 
or if there is no crosswalk, before then before entering the 
intersection; and shall remain stopped until a signal indication to 
proceed is displayed except as provided in subsections (c)(1), (2) 
and (3) of this section. 

B.  Except when a traffic control device is in place prohibiting a turn 
on red or a steady red arrow signal indication is displayed, 
vehicular traffic facing a steady circular red signal indication is 
permitted AFTER STOPPING, to enter the intersection to turn 
right, or to turn left from a one-way street into a one-way street. 
The right to proceed with the turn shall be subject to the provisions 
that are applicable after making a stop at a stop sign. 

(2)  A. Vehicular traffic facing a steady red arrow signal indication shall  
not enter the intersection to make the movement indicated by the 
arrow and, unless entering the intersection to make another 
movement permitted by another signal indication, shall stop at a 
clearly marked stop line; but if there is no stop line, before entering 
the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection; or if there is no 
crosswalk, then before entering the intersection; and shall remain 
stopped until a signal indication or other traffic control device 
permitting the movement indicated by such red arrow is displayed. 

B.  When a traffic control device is in place permitting a turn on a 
steady red arrow signal indication, vehicular traffic facing a steady 
red arrow indication is permitted, AFTER STOPPPING, to enter 
the intersection to [make the movement indicated by the arrow 
signal indication, after stopping] TURN RIGHT OR TO 
TURN LEFT FROM A ONE-WAY STREET INTO A ONE-
WAY STREET. The right to proceed with the turn shall be 



2 
 

limited to the direction indicated by the arrow, and shall be subject 
to the provisions that are applicable after making a stop at a stop 
sign. 

[No further changes to this section.] 
 

 
333.03 MAXIMUM SPEED LIMITS; ASSURED CLEAR DISTANCE AHEAD. 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (b)(7)] 
(b) (7) Fifty-five miles per hour at all times on freeways with paved shoulders  

inside the Municipality other than freeways as provided in subsection 
(b)[(10) and (b)(11) hereof](9), (12) AND (13). 

(8) Fifty-five miles per hour at all times on portions of freeways that are [part 
of the interstate system and on all portions of freeways that are] not 
part of the interstate system, but are built to the standards and 
specifications that are applicable to freeways that are part of the interstate 
system for operators of any motor vehicle weighing in excess of eight 
thousand pounds empty weight and any noncommercial bus [except as 
provided in subsection (b)(11) hereof]; 

(9) Fifty-five miles per hour for operators of any motor vehicle weighing 
eight thousand pounds or less empty weight and any commercial bus at all 
times on all portions of freeways that are [part of the interstate system 
and that had such a speed limit established prior to October 1, 1995, 
and freeways that are] not part of the interstate system, but are built to 
the standards and specifications that are applicable to freeways that are 
part of the interstate system and that had such a speed limit  established 
prior to October 1, 1995, unless a higher speed limit is established under 
Ohio R.C. 4511.21(L); 

(10) Sixty-five miles per hour for operators of any motor vehicle weighing 
eight thousand pounds or less empty weight and any commercial bus at all 
times on all portions of the following: 
A. Freeways that are [part of the interstate system and that had 

such a speed limit established prior to October 1, 1995, and 
freeways that are] not part of the interstate system, but are built to 
the standards and specifications that are applicable to freeways that 
are part of the interstate system and that had such a speed limit 
established prior to October 1, 1995; 

B. Freeways that are [part of the interstate system and freeways 
that are] not part of the interstate system but are built to the 
standards and specifications that are applicable to freeways that are 
part of the interstate system, and that had such a speed limit 
established under Ohio R.C. 4511.21(L); 

C. Rural, divided, multi-lane highways that are designated as part of 
the national highway system under the “National Highway System 
Designation Act of 1995", 109 Stat. 568, 23 U.S.C.A. 103, and that 
had such a speed limit established under Ohio R.C. 4511.21(M). 



3 
 

(11) [Sixty-five miles per hour at all times on all portions of freeways that 
are part of the interstate system and that had such a speed limit on the 
effective date of this amendment for operators of any motor vehicle 
weighing in excess of eight thousand pounds empty weight and any 
noncommercial bus.]  FIFTY-FIVE MILES PER HOUR FOR 
OPERATORS OF ANY MOTOR VECHILE AT ALL TIMES ON 
ALL PORTIONS OF FREEWAYS IN CONGESTED AREAS AS 
DETERMINED BY THE DIRECTOR AND THAT ARE PART OF 
THE INTERSTATE SYSTEM AND ARE LOCATED WITHIN A 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OR WITHIN AN INTERSTATE 
FREEWAY OUTERBELT; 

(12) SIXTY-FIVE MILES PER HOUR FOR OPERATORS OF ANY 
MOTOR VEHICLE AT ALL TIMES ON ALL PORTIONS OF 
FREEWAYS IN URBAN AREAS AS DETERMINED BY THE 
DIRECTOR AND THAT ARE PART OF THE INTERSTATE 
SYSTEM AND ARE PART OF AN INTERSTATE FREEWAY 
OUTERBELT; 

(13) SEVENTY MILES PER HOUR AT ALL TIMES ON ALL 
PORTIONS OF FREEWAYS THAT ARE PART OF THE 
INTERSTATE SYSTEM AND ARE OUTSIDE URBANIZED 
AREAS, AS DESIGNATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 23 U.S.C. 
101, FOR OPERATORS OF ALL MOTOR VEHICLES. 

 
[No further changes to this Section until Section (d)(1)] 
(d) (1) At a speed exceeding fifty-five miles per hour, except upon a freeway as  
  provided in subsection (b)[(10) and (b)(11)](9), (12) AND (13) hereof; 

(2) At a speed exceeding sixty-five miles per hour upon a freeway as provided 
in subsection (b)[(10) and (b)(11)] (12) hereof, except UPON A 
FREEWAY as [otherwise] provided in subsection [(d)(3)](b)(13) hereof; 

(3) AT A SPEED EXCEEDING SEVENTY MILES PER HOUR UPON 
A FREEWAY AS PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (b)(13) HEREOF; 

[(3)](4) If a motor vehicle weighing in excess of 8,000 pounds empty weight or a 
noncommercial bus as prescribed in subsection (b)(8) hereof, at a speed 
exceeding fifty-five miles per hour, EXCEPT upon a freeway as provided 
in [that] subsectionS (b)(12) AND (13) HEREOF; 

[(4)](5) At a speed exceeding the posted speed limit upon a freeway for which the 
Director has determined and declared a speed limit of not more than sixty- 
five miles per hour pursuant to Ohio R.C. 4511.21(L)(2) or (M); 

[(5)](6) At a speed exceeding sixty-five miles per hour upon a freeway for which 
such a speed limit has been established through the operation of Ohio R.C. 
4511.21(L)(3); 

[(6)](7) At a speed exceeding the posted speed limit upon a freeway for which the 
Director has determined and declared a speed limit pursuant to Ohio R.C. 
4511.21(I)(2). 

 
 



4 
 

[No further changes to this Section until Section (f)] 
(f) When a speed in excess of both a prima-facie limitation and a limitation in 

subsection (d)[(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), or (6)] hereof is alleged, the defendant shall be charged in a 
single affidavit, alleging a single act, with a violation indicated of both subsections (b)(1)A. to 
(b)(6) hereof, or of a limit declared or established pursuant to this section by the Director or local 
authorities, and of the limitation in subsection (d)[(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), or (6)] hereof. If the court 
finds a violation of subsection (b)(1)A. to (b)(6) hereof, or a limit declared or established 
pursuant to this section has occurred, it shall enter a judgment of conviction under such 
subsection and dismiss the charge under subsection (d)[(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), or (6)] hereof. If it 
finds no violation of subsections (b)(1)A. to (b)(6) hereof or a limit declared or established 
pursuant to this section, it shall then consider whether the evidence supports a conviction under 
subsection (d)[(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), or (6)] hereof. 

 
[No further changes to this Section until Section (i)(4)] 
(i) (4) “OUTERBELT” MEANS A PORTION OF A FREEWAY THAT IS  

PART OF THE INTERSTATE SYSTEM AND IS LOCATED IN 
THE OUTER VICINITY OF A MAJOR MUNICIPAL 
CORPORATION OR GROUP OF MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS, 
AS DESIGNATED BY THE DIRECTOR. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
333.11 TEXTING WHILE DRIVING PROHIBITED. 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (e)] 
(e) THE PROSECUTION FOR A VIOLATION OF OHIO R.C. 4511.204 DOES 

NOT PRECLUDE A PROSECUTION FOR A VIOLATION OF SUBSTANTIALLY 
EQUIVALENT MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE BASED ON THE SAME CONDUCT.  
HOWEVER, IF AN OFFENDER IS CONVICTED OF OR PLEADS GUILTY TO A 
VIOLATION OF OHIO R.C. 4511.204 AND IS ALSO CONVICTED OF OR PLEADS 
GUILTY TO A VIOLATION OF SUBSTANTIALLY EQUILIVANT MUNICIPAL 
ORDINANCE BASED ON THE SAME CONDUCT, THE TWO OFFENSES ARE 
ALLIED OFFENSES OF SIMILAR IMPORT UNDER OHIO R.C. 2941.25. 

[(e)](f) As used in this section: 
(1) “Electronic wireless communications device” includes any of the 

following: 
A. A wireless telephone; 
B.  A text-messaging device; 
C.  A personal digital assistant; 
D.  A computer, including a laptop computer and a computer tablet; 
E.  Any other substantially similar wireless device that is designed or 

used to communicate text. 
(2) “Voice-operated or hands-free device” means a device that allows the user 

to vocally compose or send, or to listen to a text-based communication 
without the use of either hand except to activate, or deactivate a feature or 
function. 



5 
 

(3) “Write, send or read a text-based communication” means to manually 
write or send, or read a text-based communication using an electronic 
wireless communications device, including manually writing or sending, 
or reading communications referred to as text messages, instant messages, 
or electronic mail. (ORC 4511.204) 

 
 
335.032 USE OF ELECTRONIC WIRELESS COMMUNICATION DEVICE 
PROHIBITED WHILE DRIVING. 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (c)] 
(c) (1) Except as provided in subsection (c)(2) of this section, whoever violates  

subsection (a) of this section shall be fined one hundred fifty dollars 
($150.00). In addition, the court shall impose a class seven suspension of 
the offender’s driver’s license or permit for a definite period of sixty days. 

(2) If the [offender] PERSON previously has been [convicted of] 
ADJUDICATED A DELINQUENT CHILD OR A JUVENILE 
TRAFFIC OFFENDER FOR a violation of this section, whoever 
violates this section shall be fined three hundred dollars ($300.00). In 
addition, the court shall impose a class seven suspension of the 
[offender’s] PERSON’S driver’s license or permit for a definite period of 
one year. 

 (d) THE FILING OF A SWORN COMPLAINT AGAINST A PERSON FOR A 
VIOLATION OF OHIO R.C. 4511.205 DOES NOT PRECLUDE THE FILING OF A 
SWORN COMPLAINT FOR A VIOLATION OF A SUBSTANTIALLY EQUIVALENT 
MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE FOR THE SAME CONDUCT.  HOWEVER, IF A PERSON 
IS ADJUDICATED A DELINQUENT CHILD OR A JUVENILE TRAFFIC OFFENDER 
FOR A VIOLATION OF OHIO R.C. 4511.205 AND IS ALSO ADJUDICATED A 
DELINQUENT CHILD OR A JUVENILE TRAFFIC OFFENDER FOR A VIOLATION 
OF A SUBSTANTIALLY EQUILIVANT MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE FOR THE SAME 
CONDUCT, THE TWO OFFENSES ARE ALLIED OFFENSES OF SIMILAR IMPORT 
UNDER OHIO R.C. 2941.25. 

[(d)](e) As used in this section, “electronic wireless communications device” includes 
any of the following: 

(1) A wireless telephone; 
(2) A personal digital assistant; 
(3) A computer, including a laptop computer and a computer tablet; 
(4) A text-messaging device; 
(5)  Any other substantially similar electronic wireless device that is designed 

or used to communicate via voice, image, or written word. (ORC 
4511.205) 

 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

339.01 OVERSIZE OR OVERWEIGHT VEHICLE OPERATION ON STATE ROUTES; 
STATE PERMIT. 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (b)] 
(b) (1) NO PERSON SHALL VIOLATE THE TERMS OF A PERMIT 

ISSUED UNDER THIS SECTION THAT RELATE TO GROSS 
LOAD LIMITS. 

(2) NO PERSON SHALL VIOLATE THE TERMS OF A PERMIT 
ISSUED UNDER THIS SECTION THAT RELATE TO AXLE 
LOAD BY MORE THAN 2000 POUNDS PER AXLE OR GROUP 
OF AXLES. 

(3) NO PERSON SHALL VIOLATE THE TERMS OF A PERMIT 
ISSUED UNDER THIS SECTION THAT RELATE TO AN 
APPROVED ROUTE EXCEPT UPON ORDER OF A LAW 
ENFORMCEMENT OFFICER. 

  
 [(b)](c) Whoever violates ANY PROVISION OF this section FOR WHICH NO 
OTHER PENALTY IS PROVIDED is guilty of a minor misdemeanor. (ORC 4513.99) 
 
 
339.03 MAXIMUM WIDTH, HEIGHT AND LENGTH. 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (c)(8)] 
(c) (8) [40] 50 feet for all other vehicles except trailers and semitrailers, with or  
  without load. 
[No further changes to this Section.] 

 
 
341.01 DEFINITIONS. 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (l)] 
(l) “Farm truck” means a truck controlled and operated by a farmer for use in the 

transportation to or from a farm, for a distance of not more than one hundred fifty 
miles, of products of the farm, including livestock and its products, poultry and its 
products, floricultural and horticultural products, and in the transportation to the 
farm, from a distance of not more than one hundred fifty miles, of supplies for the 
farm, including tile, fence, and every other thing or commodity used in 
agricultural, floricultural, horticultural, livestock and poultry production, and 
livestock, poultry and other animals and things used for breeding, feeding, or 
other purposes connected with the operation of the farm, when the truck is 
operated in accordance with this subsection and is not used in the operations of a 
motor transportation company or private motor carrier AS DEFINED IN OHIO 
R.C. 4923.01. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 

341.03 PREREQUISITES TO OPERATION OF A COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLE. 
[No changes to this Section until paragraph (b)(7)] 
(b) (7) A commercial motor vehicle that is operated for nonbusiness purposes.  



7 
 

“Operated for nonbusiness purposes” means that the commercial motor 
vehicle is not used in commerce as “commerce” is defined in 49 C.F.R. 
383.5, as amended, and is not regulated by the Public Utilities 
Commission pursuant to Ohio R.C. Chapter [4919] 4905, 4921, or 4923. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 

 
373.02 RIDING UPON SEATS; HANDLE BARS; HELMETS AND GLASSES 

[No changes to this Section until paragraph (g)] 
(g) No bicycle or motorcycle shall be used to carry more persons at one time than the 

number for which it is designed and equipped.[, nor shall any]  NO motorcycle SHALL be 
operated on a highway when the handlebars RISE [or grips are more than fifteen inches] 
higher than the SHOULDERS OF [seat or saddle for] the operator WHEN THE 
OPERATOR IS SEATED IN THE OPERATOR’S SEAT OR SADDLE. (ORC 4511.53) 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
501.01 DEFINITIONS 
 [No changes to this Section until paragraph (k)(1)] 
 (k) (1) A sheriff, deputy sheriff, constable, police officer of a township or joint  

[township] police district, marshal, deputy marshal, municipal police 
officer, member of a police force employed by a metropolitan housing 
authority under Ohio R.C. 3735.31(D) or State highway patrol trooper; 

 
[No further changes to this Section until paragraph (k)(12)] 
(k) (12) THE SENATE SERGEANT OF ARMS AND OR ASSISTANT  
  SERGEANT AT ARMS; 

[(12)](13) A special police officer employed by a municipal corporation at a 
municipal airport, or other municipal air navigation facility, that has 
scheduled operations, as defined in Section 119.3 of Title 14 of the Code 
of Federal Regulations, 14 C.F.R. 119.3, as amended, and that is required 
to be under a security program and is governed by aviation security rules 
of the transportation security administration of the United States 
Department of Transportation as provided in Parts 1542 and 1544 of Title 
49 of the Code of Federal Regulations, as amended. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
513.01 DEFINITIONS 
 [No changes to this Section until paragraph (h)] 

(h) [(Reserved)] “CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ANALOG” HAS THE SAME 
MEANING AS PROVIDED IN OHIO R.C. 3719.01. 

 
[No further changes to this Section until paragraph (s)(1)] 
(s) "Bulk amount" of a controlled substance means any of the following: 



8 
 

(1) For any compound, mixture, preparation, or substance included in 
Schedule I, Schedule II or Schedule III, with the exception of 
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ANALOGS, marihuana, cocaine, 
L.S.D., heroin, and hashish and except as provided in subsection (s)(2) or 
(5) hereof, whichever of the following is applicable: 

 
[No further changes to this Section until paragraph (bb)] 
(bb) "Standard pharmaceutical reference manual" means the current edition, with 

cumulative changes if any, of [any of the following reference works:] REFERENCES THAT 
ARE APPROVED BY THE STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
513.03 DRUG ABUSE; CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE POSSESSION OR USE. 

(a) No person shall knowingly obtain, possess or use a controlled substance OR A 
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ANALOG. 

 
[No changes to this Section until paragraph (c)(4)] 
(c) Whoever violates subsection (a) hereof is guilty of one of the following: 

[(4) If the drug involved is 1-Pentyl-3-(1-naphthoyl)indole, 1-Butyl-3-(1- 
napthoyl)indole, 1-[2-(4-morpholinyl)ethyl]-3-(1-naphthoyl)indole, 5-
(1,1- dimethylheptyl)-2-[(1R,3S)-3-hydroxycyclohexyl]-phenol, or 5-
(1,1- dimethyloctyl)-2-[(1R,3S)-3-hydroxycyclohexyl]-phenol or a 
compound, mixture, preparation or substance containing 1-Pentyl-3-
(1- naphthoyl)indole, 1-Butyl-3-(1-naphthoyl)indole, 1-[2-(4- 
morpholinyl)ethyl]-3-(1-naphthoyl)indole, 5-(1-1-dimethylheptyl)-2- 
[(1R,3S)-3-hydroxycyclohexyl]-phenol, or 5-(1,1-dimethyloctyl)-2- 
[(1R,3S)-3-hydroxycyclohexyl]-phenol, whoever violates subsection (a) 
of this section is guilty of possession of spice, a minor misdemeanor. 
(Ord. 102-11. Passed 10-11-11.)] 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
517.01 DEFINITIONS 
 [No changes to this Section until paragraph (c)] 
 (c) "Scheme of chance" means a slot machine UNLESS AUTHORIZED UNDER 

OHIO R.C CHAPTER 3772, lottery UNLESS AUTHORIZED UNDER 
OHIO R.C. CHAPTER 3770, numbers game, pool conducted for profit, or other 
scheme in which a participant gives a valuable consideration for a chance to win a 
prize, but does not include bingo, a skill-based amusement machine, or a pool not 
conducted for profit.  “SCHEME OF CHANCE” INCLUDES THE USE OF 
AN ELECTRONIC DEVICE TO REVEAL THE RESULTS OF A GAME 
ENTRY IF VALUABLE CONSIDERATION IS PAID, DIRECTLY OR 
INDIRECTLY, FOR A CHANCE TO WIN A PRIZE.  VALUABLE 
CONSIDERATION IS DEEMED TO BE PAID FOR A CHANCE TO WIN 
A PRIZE IN THE FOLLOWING INSTANCES: 



9 
 

  (1) LESS THAN FIFTY PERCENT OF THE GOODS OR SERVICES 
SOLD BY A SCHEME OF CHANCE OPERATOR IN EXCHANGE 
FOR GAME ENTRIES ARE USED OR REDEEMED BY 
PARTICIPANTS AT ANY ONE LOCATION; 

  (2) LESS THAN FIFTY PERCENT OF PARTICIPANTS WHO 
PURCHASE GOODS OR SERVICES AT ANY ONE LOCATION 
DO NOT ACCEPT, USE OR REDEEM THE GOODS OR 
SERVICES SOLD OR PURPORTELY SOLD; 

  (3) MORE THAN FIFTY PERCENT OF PRIZES AT ANY ONE 
LOCATION ARE REVEALED TO PARTICIPANTS THROUGH 
AN ELECTRONIC DEVICE SIMULATING A GAME OF CHANCE 
OR A “CASINO GAME” AS DEFINED IN OHIO R.C. 3772.01; 

  (4) THE GOOD OR SERVICE SOLD BY A SCHEME OF CHANCE 
OPERATOR IN EXCHANGE FOR A GAME ENTRY CANNOT BE 
USED OR REDEEMED IN THE MANNER ADVERTISED; 

  (5) A PARTICIPANT PAYS MORE THAN FAIR MARKET VALUE 
FOR GOODS OR SERVICES OFFERED BY A SCHEME OF 
CHANCE OPERATOR IN ORDER TO RECEIVE ONE OR MORE 
GAME ENTRIES; 

  (6) A PARTICIPANT MAY USE THE ELECTRONIC DEVICE TO 
PURCHASE ADDITIONAL GAME ENTRIES; 

  (7) A PARTICIPANT MAY PURCHASE ADDITIONAL GAME 
ENTRIES BY USING POINTS OR CREDITS WON AS PRIZES 
WHILE USING THE ELECTRONIC DEVICE; 

  (8) A SCHEME OF CHANCE OPERATOR PAYS OUT IN PRIZE 
MONEY MORE THAN TWENTY PER CENT OF THE GROSS 
REVENUE RECEIVED AT ONE LOCATION; OR 

  (9) A PARTICIPANT MAKES A PURCHASE OR EXCHANGE IN 
ORDER TO OBTAIN ANY GOOD OR SERVICE THAT MAY BE 
USED TO FACILITATE PLAY ON THE ELECTRONIC DEVICE. 

AS USED IN THIS SUBSECTION, “ELECTRONIC DEVICE” MEANS A 
MECHANICAL, VIDEO, DIGITAL OR ELECTRONIC MACHINE OR 
DEVICE THAT IS CAPABLE OF DISPLAYING INFORMATION ON A 
SCREEN OR OTHER MECHANISM AND THAT IS OWNED, LEASED 
OR OTHERWISE POSSESSED BY ANY PERSON CONDUCTING A 
SCHEME OF CHANCE, OR BY THAT PERSON’S PARTNERS, 
AFFILIATES, SUBSIDIARIES OR CONTRACTORS. 
 

[No further changes to this Section until paragraph (h)] 
(h) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, "charitable organization" means 

EITHER OF THE FOLLOWING: 
(1) [any tax exempt religious, educational, veteran's, fraternal, sporting, 

service, nonprofit medical, volunteer rescue service, volunteer 
firefighter's, senior citizen's, historic railroad educational, youth 
athletic, amateur athletic, or youth athletic park organization.] An 
organization [is tax exempt if the organization] THAT is[,] and has 



10 
 

received from the Internal Revenue Service a determination letter that 
currently is in effect stating that the organization is, exempt from federal 
income taxation under subsection 501(a) and described in subsection 
501(c)(3)[, 501(c)(4), 501(c)(8), 501(c)(10), or 501(c)(19)] of the Internal 
Revenue Code[,]; 

(2) [or if the organization is a sporting organization that is exempt from 
federal income taxation under subsection 501(a) and is described in 
subsection 501(c)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code. To qualify as a 
charitable organization, an organization, except] [a]A volunteer rescue 
service ORGANIZATION, [or] volunteer firefighter's organization, 
[shall have been in continuous existence as such in this State for a 
period of two years immediately preceding either the making of an 
application for a bingo license under Ohio R.C. 2915.08 or the 
conducting of any game of chance as provided in division (D) of Ohio 
R.C. 2915.02. A charitable organization that is exempt from federal 
income taxation under subsection 501(a) and described in subsection 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and that is created by a] 
veteran's organization, [a] fraternal organization, or [a] sporting 
organization THAT IS EXEMPT FROM FEDERAL, INCOME 
TAXATION UNDER SUBSECTION 501(c)(4), (c)(7), (c)(8), (c)(10) 
OR (c)(19) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE. 

TO QUALIFY AS A CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION, AN 
ORGANIZATION SHALL [does not have to] have been in continuous 
existence as such in this State for a period of two years immediately preceding 
either the making of an application for a bingo license under Ohio R.C. 2915.08 
or the conducting of any game of chance as provided in division (D) of Ohio R.C. 
2915.02. 
 

[No further changes to this Section until paragraph (j)] 
[(j) "Educational organization" means any organization within this State that is 

not organized for profit, the primary purpose of which is to educate and 
develop the capabilities of individuals through instruction, by means of 
operating or contributing to the support of a school, academy, college or 
university. (Ord. 157-08. Passed 12-8-08.)] 

[(k)](j) "Veteran's organization" means any individual post or state headquarters of a 
national veteran's association or an auxiliary unit of any individual post of a 
national veteran's association, which post, state headquarters, or auxiliary unit is 
incorporated as a nonprofit corporation and either has received a letter from the 
state headquarters of the national veteran’s association indicating that the 
individual post or auxiliary unit is in good standing with the national veteran’s 
association or has received a letter from the national veteran’s association 
indicating that the state headquarters is in good standing with the national 
veteran’s association. As used in this subsection, “national veteran’s association” 
means any veteran’s association that has been in continuous existence as such for 
a period of at least five years and either is incorporated by an act of the United 



11 
 

States congress or has a national dues- paying membership of at least five 
thousand persons. (Ord. 110-10. Passed 12-6- 10.) 

[(l)](k) "Volunteer firefighter's organization" means any organization of volunteer 
firefighters, as defined in Ohio R.C. 146.01, that is organized and operated 
exclusively to provide financial support for a volunteer fire department or a 
volunteer fire company and that is recognized or ratified by a county, municipal 
corporation, or township. (Ord. 157-08. Passed 12-8-08.) 

[(m)](l) "Fraternal organization" means any society, order, state headquarters, or 
association within this State, except a college or high school fraternity, that is not 
organized for profit, that is a branch, lodge or chapter of a national or state 
organization, that exists exclusively for the common business of sodality of its 
members. (Ord. 110-10. Passed 12-6-10.) 

[(n)](m) "Volunteer rescue service organization" means any organization of volunteers 
organized to function as an emergency medical service organization as defined in 
Ohio R.C. 4765.01. 

[(o) "Service organization" means either of the following: 
(1) Any organization, not organized for profit, that is organized and 

operated exclusively to provide, or to contribute to the support of 
organizations or institutions organized and operated exclusively to 
provide, medical and therapeutic services for persons who are 
crippled, born with birth defects or have any other mental or physical 
defect or those organized and operated exclusively to protect, or to 
contribute to the support of organizations or institutions organized 
and operated exclusively to protect, animals from inhumane 
treatment or provide immediate shelter to victims of domestic 
violence; 

(2) Any organization that is described in subsection 509(a)(1), 509(a)(2) 
or 509(a)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is either a 
governmental unit or an organization that is tax exempt under 
subsection 501(a) and described in subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code and that is an organization, not organized for profit, 
that is organized and operated primarily to provide, or to contribute 
to the support of organizations or institutions organized and operated 
primarily to provide, medical and therapeutic services for persons 
who are crippled, born with birth defects, or have any other mental or 
physical defect.] 

[(p)  "Nonprofit medical organization" means either of the following: 
(1) Any organization, that has been incorporated as a nonprofit 

corporation for at least five years and that has continuously operated 
and will be operated exclusively to provide, or to contribute to the 
support of organizations or institutions organized and operated 
exclusively to provide, hospital, medical, research or therapeutic 
services for the public; 

(2) Any organization that is described and qualified under subsection 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, that has been incorporated as 
a nonprofit corporation for at least five years, and that has 



12 
 

continuously operated and will be operated primarily to provide, or to 
contribute to the support of organizations or institutions organized 
and operated primarily to provide, hospital, medical, research, or 
therapeutic services for the public.] 

[(q) "Senior citizen's organization" means any private organization, not 
organized for profit, that is organized and operated exclusively to provide 
recreational or social services for persons who are fifty-five years of age or 
older and that is described and qualified under subsection 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code.] 

[(r)](n) "Charitable bingo game" means any bingo game described in subsection 
[(s)](o)(1) or (2) of this section that is conducted by a charitable organization that 
has obtained a license pursuant to Ohio R.C. 2915.08 and the proceeds of which 
are used for a charitable purpose. 

[(s)](o) "Bingo" means either of the following: 
(1) A game with all of the following characteristics: 

A. The participants use bingo cards or sheets, including paper formats 
and electronic representation or image formats, that are divided 
into twenty-five spaces arranged in five horizontal and five vertical 
rows of spaces, with each space, except the central space, being 
designated by a combination of a letter and a number and with the 
central space being designated as a free space. 

B. The participants cover the space on the bingo cards or sheets that 
correspond to combinations of letters and numbers that are 
announced by a bingo game operator. 

C.  A bingo game operator announces combinations of letters and 
numbers that appear on objects that a bingo game operator selects 
by chance, either manually or mechanically from a receptacle that 
contains seventy-five objects at the beginning of each game, each 
object marked by a different combination of a letter and a number 
that corresponds to one of the seventy-five possible combinations 
of a letter and a number that can appear on the bingo cards or 
sheets. 

D.  The winner of the bingo game includes any participant who 
properly announces during the interval between the 
announcements of letters and numbers as described in subsection 
[(s)](o)(1)C. hereof, that a predetermined and preannounced 
pattern of spaces has been covered on a bingo card or sheet being 
used by a participant. 

(2) Instant bingo, punch boards and raffles. 
[(t)](p) "Conduct" means to back, promote, organize, manage, carry on, sponsor, or 

prepare for the operation of bingo or a game of chance, A SCHEME OF 
CHANCE, OR A SWEEPSTAKES. 

[(u)](q) "Bingo game operator" means any person, except security personnel, who 
performs work or labor at the site of bingo, including, but not limited to, 
collecting money from participants, handing out bingo cards or sheets or objects 
to cover spaces on bingo cards or sheets, selecting from a receptacle the objects 



13 
 

that contain the combination of letters and numbers that appear on bingo cards or 
sheets, calling out the combinations of letters and numbers, distributing prizes, 
selling or redeeming instant bingo tickets or cards, supervising the operation of a 
punch board, selling raffle tickets, selecting raffle tickets from a receptacle and 
announcing the winning numbers in a raffle, and preparing, selling, and serving 
food or beverages. 

[(v)](r) "Participant" means any person who plays bingo. 
[(w)](s) "Bingo session" means a period that includes both of the following: 

(1)  Not to exceed five continuous hours for the conduct of one or more games 
described in subsection [(s)](o)(1) of this section, instant bingo, and seal 
cards; 

(2) A period for the conduct of instant bingo and seal cards for not more than 
two hours before and not more than two hours after the period described in 
subsection [(w)](s)(1) of this section. 

[(x)](t) "Gross receipts" means all money or assets, including admission fees, that a 
person receives from bingo without the deduction of any amounts for prizes paid 
out or for the expenses of conducting bingo. "Gross receipts" does not include any 
money directly taken in from the sale of food or beverages by a charitable 
organization conducting bingo, or by a bona fide auxiliary unit or society of a 
charitable organization conducting bingo, provided all of the following apply: 
(1) The auxiliary unit or society has been in existence as a bona fide auxiliary 

unit or society of the charitable organization for at least two years prior to 
conducting bingo. 

(2) The person who purchases the food or beverage receives nothing of value 
except the food or beverage and items customarily received with the 
purchase of that food or beverage. 

(3) The food and beverages are sold at customary and reasonable prices. 
[(y)](u) "Security personnel" includes any person who either is a sheriff, deputy sheriff, 

marshal, deputy marshal, township constable, or a police officer of a municipal 
corporation or has successfully completed a peace officer's training course 
pursuant to Ohio R.C. 109.71 to 109.79 and who is hired to provide security for 
the premises on which bingo is conducted. 

[(z)](v) “Charitable purpose" means that the net profit of bingo, other than instant bingo, 
is used by, or is given, donated, or otherwise transferred to, any of the following: 
(1) Any organization that is described in subsection 509(a)(1), 509(a)(2), or 

509(a)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is either a governmental unit 
or an organization that is tax exempt under subsection 501(a) and 
described in subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code; 

(2) A veteran's organization that is a post, chapter, or organization of veterans, 
or an auxiliary unit or society of, or a trust or foundation for, any such 
post, chapter, or organization organized in the United States or any of its 
possessions, at least seventy-five per cent of the members of which are 
veterans and substantially all of the other members of which are 
individuals who are spouses, widows, or widowers of veterans, or such 
individuals, provided that no part of the net earnings of such post, chapter, 
or organization inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or 



14 
 

individual, and further provided that the net profit is used by the post, 
chapter, or organization for the charitable purposes set forth in division 
(B)(12) of Ohio R.C. 5739.02, is used for awarding scholarships to or for 
attendance at an institution mentioned in division (B)(12) of Ohio R.C. 
5739.02, is donated to a governmental agency, or is used for nonprofit 
youth activities, the purchase of United States or Ohio flags that are 
donated to schools, youth groups, or other bona fide nonprofit 
organizations, promotion of patriotism, or disaster relief; 

(3) A fraternal organization that has been in continuous existence in this State 
for fifteen years and that uses the net profit exclusively for religious, 
charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes, or for the 
prevention of cruelty to children or animals if contributions for such use 
would qualify as a deductible charitable contribution under subsection 170 
of the Internal Revenue Code; 

(4) A volunteer firefighter's organization that uses the net profit for the 
purposes set forth in subsection [(l)](k) of this section. 

[(aa)](w) "Internal Revenue Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 100 Stat. 
2085, 26 U.S.C. 1, as now or hereafter amended. 

[(bb)](x) "Youth athletic organization" means any organization, not organized for profit, 
that is organized and operated exclusively to provide financial support to, or to 
operate, athletic activities for persons who are twenty-one years of age or younger 
by means of sponsoring, organizing, operating or contributing to the support of an 
athletic team, club, league or association. 

[(cc)](y) "Youth athletic park organization" means any organization, not organized for 
profit, that satisfies both of the following: 
(1) It owns, operates and maintains playing fields that satisfy both of the 

following: 
A. The playing fields are used at least one hundred days per year for 

athletic activities by one or more organizations not organized for 
profit, each of which is organized and operated exclusively to 
provide financial support to, or to operate, athletic activities for 
persons who are eighteen years of age or younger by means of 
sponsoring, organizing, operating or contributing to the support of 
an athletic team, club, league or association; 

B. The playing fields are not used for any profit-making activity at 
any time during the year, 

(2) It uses the proceeds of bingo it conducts exclusively for the operation, 
maintenance and improvement of its playing fields of the type described in 
paragraph (1) hereof. 

[(dd) “Amateur athletic organization” means any organization, not organized for 
profit, that is organized and operated exclusively to provide financial support 
to, or to operate, athletic activities for persons who are training for amateur 
athletic competition that is sanctioned by a national governing body as 
defined in the “Amateur Sports Act of 1978", 90 Stat. 3045, 36 U.S.C.A. 373.] 

[(ee)](z) "Bingo supplies" means bingo cards or sheets; instant bingo tickets or cards; 
electronic bingo aids; raffle tickets; punch boards; seal cards; instant bingo ticket 



15 
 

dispensers; and devices for selecting or displaying the combination of bingo 
letters and numbers or raffle tickets. Items that are "bingo supplies" are not 
gambling devices if sold or otherwise provided, and used, in accordance with this 
chapter. For purposes of this chapter, "bingo supplies" are not to be considered 
equipment used to conduct a bingo game. 

[(ff)](aa) “Instant bingo" means a form of bingo that SHALL use[s] folded or banded 
tickets or paper cards with perforated break-open tabs, a face of which is covered 
or otherwise hidden from view to conceal a number, letter, or symbol, or set of 
numbers, letters, or symbols, some of which have been designated in advance as 
prize winners, AND MAY ALSO INCLUDE GAMES WHICH SOME 
WINNERS ARE DETERMINED BY THE RANDOM SELECTION OF 
ONE OR MORE BINGO NUMBERS BY THE USE OF A SEAL CARD OR 
BINGO BLOWER.  IN ALL “INSTANT BINGO” THE PRIZE AMOUNT 
AND STRUCTURE SHALL BE PREDETERMINED. ["Instant bingo" 
includes seal cards.] "Instant bingo" does not include any device that is activated 
by the insertion of a coin, currency, token, or an equivalent, and that contains as 
one of its components a video display monitor that is capable of displaying 
numbers, letters, symbols, or characters in winning or losing combinations. 

[(gg)](bb) “Seal card" means a form of instant bingo that uses instant bingo tickets in 
conjunction with a board or placard that contains one or more seals that, when 
removed or opened, reveal predesignated winning numbers, letters, or symbols. 
[(Ord. 157-08. Passed 12-8-08.)] 

[(hh)](cc) “Raffle" means a form of bingo in which the one or more prizes are won by 
one or more persons who have purchased a raffle ticket. The one or more winners 
of the raffle are determined by drawing a ticket stub or other detachable section 
from a receptacle containing ticket stubs or detachable sections corresponding to 
all tickets sold for the raffle. “Raffle” does not include the drawing of a ticket stub 
or other detachable section of a ticket purchased to attend a professional sporting 
event if both of the following apply: 
(1) The ticket stub or other detachable section is used to select the winner of a 

free prize given away at the professional sporting event; and 
(2) The cost of the ticket is the same as the cost of a ticket to the professional 

sporting event on days when no free prize is given away. [(Ord. 110-10. 
Passed 12-6-10.)] 

[(ii)](dd) "Punch board" means a board containing a number of holes or receptacles of 
uniform size in which are placed, mechanically and randomly, serially numbered 
slips of paper that may be punched or drawn from the hole or receptacle when 
used in conjunction with instant bingo. A player may punch or draw the numbered 
slips of paper from the holes or receptacles and obtain the prize established for the 
game if the number drawn corresponds to a winning number or, if the punch 
board includes the use of a seal card, a potential winning number. 

[(jj)](ee) "Gross profit" means gross receipts minus the amount actually expended for the 
payment of prize awards. 

[(kk)](ff) "Net profit" means gross profit minus expenses. [(Ord. 157-08. Passed 12-8- 
 08.)] 



16 
 

[(ll)](gg) "Expenses" means the reasonable amount of gross profit actually expended for 
all of the following: 
(1) The purchase or lease of bingo supplies; 
(2) The annual license fee required under Ohio R.C. 2915.08; 
(3) Bank fees and service charges for a bingo session or game account 

described in Ohio R.C. 2915.10; 
(4) Audits and accounting services; 
(5) Safes; 
(6) Cash registers; 
(7) Hiring security personnel; 
(8) Advertising bingo; 
(9) Renting premises in which to conduct a bingo session; 
(10) Tables and chairs; 
(11) Expenses for maintaining and operating a charitable organization’s 

facilities, including, but not limited to, a post home, club house, lounge, 
tavern, or canteen and any grounds attached to the post home, club house, 
lounge, tavern, or canteen; 

(12) Payment of real property taxes and assessments that are levied on a 
premises on which bingo is conducted; 

(13) Any other product or service directly related to the conduct of bingo that is 
authorized in rules adopted by the Attorney General under division (B)(1) 
of Ohio R.C. 2915.08. [(Ord. 110-10. Passed 12-6-10.)] 

[(mm)](hh) “Person" has the same meaning as in Ohio R.C. 1.59 and includes any firm 
or any other legal entity, however organized. 

[(nn)](ii) “Revoke" means to void permanently all rights and privileges of the holder of a 
license issued under Ohio R.C. 2915.08, 2915.081, or 2915.082 or a charitable 
gaming license issued by another jurisdiction. 

[(oo)](jj) “Suspend" means to interrupt temporarily all rights and privileges of the holder 
of a license issued under Ohio R.C. 2915.08, 2915.081, or 2915.082 or a 
charitable gaming license issued by another jurisdiction. 

[(pp)](kk) "Distributor" means any person who purchases or obtains bingo supplies and 
who does either of the following: 
(1) Sells, offers for sale, or otherwise provides or offers to provide the bingo 

supplies to another person for use in this State; 
(2) Modifies, converts, adds to, or removes parts from the bingo supplies to 

further their promotion or sale for use in this State. 
[(qq)](ll) "Manufacturer" means any person who assembles completed bingo supplies 

from raw materials, other items, or subparts or who modifies, converts, adds to, or 
removes parts from bingo supplies to further their promotion or sale. 

[(rr)](mm) “Gross annual revenues" means the annual gross receipts derived from the 
conduct of bingo described in subsection [(s)](o)(1) of this section plus the annual 
net profit derived from the conduct of bingo described in subsection [(s)](o)(2) of 
this section. 

[(ss)](nn) "Instant bingo ticket dispenser" means a mechanical device that dispenses an 
instant bingo ticket or card as the sole item of value dispensed and that has the 
following characteristics: 



17 
 

(1) It is activated upon the insertion of United States currency. 
(2) It performs no gaming functions. 
(3) It does not contain a video display monitor or generate noise. 
(4) It is not capable of displaying any numbers, letters, symbols, or characters 

in winning or losing combinations. 
(5) It does not simulate or display rolling or spinning reels. 
(6) It is incapable of determining whether a dispensed bingo ticket or card is a 

winning or nonwinning ticket or card and requires a winning ticket or card 
to be paid by a bingo game operator. 

(7) It may provide accounting and security features to aid in accounting for 
the instant bingo tickets or cards it dispenses. 

(8) It is not part of an electronic network and is not interactive. 
[(tt)](oo) (1) "Electronic bingo aid" means an electronic device used by a  

participant to monitor bingo cards or sheets purchased at the time and 
place of a bingo session and that does all of the following: 
A. It provides a means for a participant to input numbers and letters 

announced by a bingo caller. 
B. It compares the numbers and letters entered by the participant to 

the bingo faces previously stored in the memory of the device. 
C. It identifies a winning bingo pattern. 

(2) "Electronic bingo aid" does not include any device into which a coin, 
currency, token, or an equivalent is inserted to activate play. 

[(uu)](pp) “Deal of instant bingo tickets" means a single game of instant bingo tickets all 
with the same serial number. [(Ord. 157-08. Passed 12-8-08.)] 

[(vv)](qq) (1) "Slot machine” means either of the following: 
A. Any mechanical, electronic, video, or digital device that is capable 

of accepting anything of value, directly or indirectly, from or on 
behalf of a player who gives the thing of value in the hope of gain; 

B. Any mechanical, electronic, video, or digital device that is capable 
of accepting anything of value, directly or indirectly, from or on 
behalf of a player to conduct bingo or a scheme or game of chance. 

(2) “Slot machine” does not include a skill-based amusement machine or an 
instant bingo ticket dispenser. [(Ord. 110-10. Passed 12-6-10.)] 

[(ww)](rr) “Net profit from the proceeds of the sale of instant bingo" means gross profit 
minus the ordinary, necessary, and reasonable expense expended for the purchase 
of instant bingo supplies, AND, IN THE CASE OF INSTANT BINGO 
CONDUCTED BY A VETERAN’S, FRATERNAL OR SPORTING 
ORGANIZATION, MINUS THE PAYMENT BY THAT ORGANIZATION 
OF REAL PROPERTY TAXES, AND ASSESSMENTS LEVIED ON A 
PREMISES ON WHICH INSTANT BINGO IS CONDUCTED. 

[(xx)](ss) "Charitable instant bingo organization" means an organization that is exempt 
from federal income taxation under subsection 501(a) and described in subsection 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is a charitable organization as defined 
in this section. A "charitable instant bingo organization" does not include a 
charitable organization that is exempt from federal income taxation under 
subsection 501(a) and described in subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 



18 
 

Code and that is created by a veteran's organization, a fraternal organization, or a 
sporting organization in regards to bingo conducted or assisted by a veteran's 
organization, a fraternal organization, or a sporting organization pursuant to Ohio 
R.C. 2915.13. 

[(yy)](tt) “Game flare” means the board or placard that accompanies each deal of instant 
bingo tickets and that has printed on or affixed to it the following information for 
the game: 
(1) The name of the game; 
(2) The manufacturer’s name or distinctive logo; 
(3) The form number; 
(4) The ticket count; 
(5) The prize structure, including the number of winning instant bingo tickets 

by denomination and the respective winning symbol or number 
combinations for the winning instant bingo tickets; 

(6) The cost per play; 
(7) The serial number of the game. 

[(zz) “Historic railroad educational organization” means an organization that is 
exempt from federal income taxation under subsection 501(a) and described 
in subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, that owns in fee simple 
the tracks and the right of way of a historic railroad that the organization 
restores or maintains and on which the organization provides excursions as 
part of a program to promote tourism and educate visitors regarding the role 
of railroad transportation in Ohio history, and that receives as donations 
from a charitable organization that holds a license to conduct bingo under 
this chapter an amount equal to at least fifty per cent of that licensed 
charitable organization’s net proceeds from the conduct of bingo during each 
of the five years preceding June 30, 2003. “Historic railroad” means all or a 
portion of the tracks and right of way of a railroad that was owned and 
operated by a for profit common carrier in this state at any time prior to 
January 1, 1950.] 

[(aaa)](uu) (1) “Skill-based amusement machine” means mechanical,  
video, digital, or electronic device that rewards the player or 
players, if at all, only with merchandise prizes or with redeemable 
vouchers redeemable only for merchandise prizes, provided that 
with respect to rewards for playing the game all of the following 
apply: 
A. The wholesale value of a merchandise prize awarded as a 

result of the single play of a machine does not exceed ten 
dollars; 

B. Redeemable vouchers awarded for any single play of a 
machine are not redeemable for a merchandise prize with a 
wholesale value of more than ten dollars; 

C. Redeemable vouchers are not redeemable for a 
merchandise prize that has a wholesale value of more than 
ten dollars times the fewest number of single plays 
necessary to accrue the redeemable vouchers required to 



19 
 

obtain that prize; and [(ORC 2915.01; Ord. 157-08. 
Passed 12-8-08.)] 

D. Any redeemable vouchers or merchandise prizes are 
distributed at the site of the skill-based amusement machine 
at the time of play. 

A card for the purchase of gasoline is a redeemable voucher for 
purposes of division [(aaa)](uu)(1) of this section even if the skill-
based amusement machine for the play of which the card is 
awarded is located at a place where gasoline may not be legally 
distributed to the public or the card is not redeemable at the 
location of, or at the time of playing, the skill-based amusement 
machine. 

(2) A device shall not be considered a skill-based amusement machine 
and shall be considered a slot machine if it pays cash or one or 
more of the following apply: 
A. The ability of a player to succeed at the game is impacted 

by the number or ratio of prior wins to prior losses of 
players playing the game. 

B. Any reward of redeemable vouchers is not based solely on 
the player achieving the object of the game or the players 
score; [(Ord. 145-09. Passed 12-14-09.)] 

C. The outcome of the game, or the value of the redeemable 
voucher or merchandise prize awarded for winning the 
game, can be controlled by a source other than any player 
playing the game. 

D. The success of any player is or may be determined by a 
chance event that cannot be altered by player actions. 

E. The ability of any player to succeed at the game is 
determined by game features not visible or known to the 
player. 

F. The ability of the player to succeed at the game is impacted 
by the exercise of a skill that no reasonable player could 
exercise. 

(3) All of the following apply to any machine that is operated as 
described in subsection [(aaa)](uu)(1) of this section: 
A. As used in SUBSECTION (uu) OF this section, “game” 

and “play” mean one event from the initial activation of the 
machine until the results of play are determined without 
payment of additional consideration. An individual 
utilizing a machine that involves a single game, play, 
contest, competition or tournament may be awarded 
redeemable vouchers or merchandise prizes based on the 
results of play. 

B. Advance play for a single game, play, contest, competition 
or tournament participation may be purchased. The cost of 
the contest, competition, or tournament participation may 



20 
 

be greater than a single noncontest, competition or 
tournament play. 

C. To the extent that the machine is used in a contest, 
competition or tournament, that contest, competition, or 
tournament has a defined starting and ending date and is 
open to participants in competition for scoring and ranking 
results toward the awarding of redeemable vouchers or 
merchandise prizes that are stated prior to the start of the 
contest, competition or tournament. 

(4) For purposes of subsection [(aaa)](uu)(1) of this section, the mere 
presence of a device, such as a pin-setting, ball-releasing, or 
scoring mechanism, that does not contribute to or affect the 
outcome of the play of the game does not make the device a skill-
based amusement machine. 

[(bbb)](vv) “Merchandise prize” means any item of value, but shall not include any of 
the following: 

(1) Cash, gift cards, or any equivalent thereof; 
(2) Plays on games of chance, state lottery tickets, bingo, or instant 

bingo; 
(3) Firearms, tobacco, or alcoholic beverages; or 
(4) A redeemable voucher that is redeemable for any of the items 

listed in subsection [(bbb)](vv)(1), (2) or (3) of this section. 
[(ccc)](ww) “Redeemable voucher” means any ticket, token, coupon, receipt, or other 

noncash representation of value. 
[(ddd)](xx) “Pool not conducted for profit” means a scheme in which a participant gives 

a valuable consideration for a chance to win a prize and the total amount of 
consideration wagered is distributed to a participant or participants. 

[(eee)](yy) “Sporting organization” means a hunting, fishing or trapping organization, 
other than a college or high school fraternity or sorority, that is not organized for 
profit, that is affiliated with a state or national sporting organization, including but 
not limited to, the LEAGUE OF Ohio [league of] sportsmen, and that has been in 
continuous existence in this State for a period of three years. 

[(fff)](zz) “Community action agency” has the same meaning as in Ohio R.C. 122.66. 
[(ORC 2915.01; Ord. 157-08. Passed 12-8-08.)] 

[(ggg) “Sweepstakes terminal device” means the following: 
(1) A mechanical, video, digital, or electronic machine or device, that is 

owned, leased or otherwise possessed by any person conducting a 
sweepstakes, or by that person’s partners, affiliates, subsidiaries, or 
contractors, that is intended to be used by a sweepstakes participant, 
and that is capable of displaying information on a screen or other 
mechanism. A device is a sweepstakes terminal device whether or not 
any of the following apply: 
A.  The device is server based. 
B. The device uses a simulated game terminal as a representation 

of the prizes associated with the results of the sweepstakes 
entries. 



21 
 

C.  The device utilizes software such that the simulated game 
influences or determines the winning of or value of the prize. 

D. The device selects prizes from a predetermined finite pool of 
entries. 

E. The device utilizes a mechanism that reveals the content of a 
predetermined sweepstakes entry. 

F.  The device predetermines the prize result and stores those 
results for delivery at the time the sweepstakes entry results 
are revealed. 

G. The device utilizes software to create a game result. 
H.  The device requires deposit of any money, coin, or token, or 

the use of any credit card, debt card, prepaid card, or any 
other method of payment to activate the electronic machine or 
device. 

I.   The devise requires direct payment into the devise, or remote 
activation of the device. 

J. The device requires purchase of a related product. 
K. Any related product of which purchase is required has a 

legitimate value. 
L. The device reveals the prize incrementally, even though the 

device does not influence the awarding of prize or the value of 
any prize awarded. 

M. The device determines and associates the prize with an entry or 
entries at the time the sweepstakes is entered. 

N. The device is a slot machine or other form of electrical, 
mechanical, or computer game. 

(2) As used in this section: 
A. “Enter” or “entry” means the act or process by which a person 

becomes eligible to receive any prize offered in a sweepstakes. 
B. “Prize” means any gift, awarded, gratuity, good, service, 

credit, reward, or any other thing of value, which may be 
transferred to a person, whether possession of the prize is 
actually transferred, or placed on an account or other record 
as evidence of the intent to transfer the prize. 

C. “Sweepstakes” means any game, contest, advertising scheme or 
plan, or other promotion, but does not include bingo, or games 
or lotteries conducted by the State Lottery Commission, 
whether or not consideration is required for a person to enter 
to win or become eligible to receive any prize, the 
determination of which is based upon chance. (Ord. 53-12. 
Passed 5-29-12.)] 

 (aaa) (1) “SWEEPSTAKES TERMINAL DEVICE” MEANS A 
MECHANICAL, VIDEO, DIGITAL OR ELECTRONIC MACHINE 
OR DEVICE THAT IS OWNED, LEASED OR OTHERWISE 
POSSESSED BY ANY PERSON CONDUCTING A 
SWEEPSTAKES, OR BY THAT PERSON’S PARTNERS, 



22 
 

AFFILIATES, SUBSIDIARIES, OR CONTRACTORS, THAT IS 
INTENDED TO BE USED BY A SWEEPSTAKES PARTICIPANT, 
AND THAT IS CAPABLE OF DISPLAYING INFORMATION ON 
A SCREEN OR OTHER MECHANISM.  A DEVICE IS A 
SWEEPSTAKES TERMINAL DEVICE IF ANY OF THE 
FOLLOWING APPLY: 

   A. THE DEVICE USES A SIMULATED GAME TERMINAL AS 
A REPRESENTATION OF THE PRIZES ASSOCIATED 
WITH THE RESULTS OF THE SWEEPSTAKES ENTRIES. 

   B. THE DEVICE UTILIZES SOFTWARE SUCH THAT THE 
SIMULATED GAME INFLUENCES OR DETERMINES 
THE WINNING OF OR VALUE OF THE PRIZE. 

   C. THE DEVICE SELECTS PRIZES FROM A 
PREDETERMINED FINITE POOL OF ENTRIES. 

   D. THE DEVICE UTILIZES A MECHANISM THAT REVEALS 
THE CONTENT OF A PREDETERMINED SWEEPSTAKES 
ENTRY. 

   E. THE DEVICE PREDETERMINES THE PRIZE RESULTS 
AND STORES THOSE RESULTS FOR DELIVERY AT THE 
TIME THE SWEEPSTAKES ENTRY RESULTS ARE 
REVEALED. 

   F. THE DEVICE UTILIZES SOFTWARE TO CREATE A 
GAME RESULT. 

   G. THE DEVICE REVEALS THE PRIZE INCREMENTALLY, 
EVEN THOUGH THE DEVICE DOES NOT INFLUENCE 
THE AWARDING OF THE PRIZE OR THE VALUE OF 
ANY PRIZE AWARDED. 

   H. THE DEVICE DETERMINES AND ASSOCIATES THE 
PRIZE WITH AN ENTRY OR ENTRIES AT THE TIME 
THE SWEEPSTAKES IS ENTERED. 

 
  (2) AS USED IN THIS SUBSECTION AND IN SECTION 517.02: 
   A. “ENTER” MEANS THE ACT BY WHICH A PERSON 

BECOMES ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE ANY PRIZE 
OFFERED IN A SWEEPSTAKES. 

   B. “ENTRY” MEANS ONE EVENT FROM THE INITIAL 
ACTIVATION OF THE SWEEPSTAKES TERMINAL 
DEVICE UNTIL ALL OF THE SWEEPSTAKES PRIZE 
RESULTS FROM THAT ACTIVATION ARE REVEALED. 

   C. “PRIZE” MEANS ANY GIFT, AWARD, GRATUITY, 
GOOD, SERVICE, CREDIT, REWARD OR ANY OTHER 
THING OF VALUE THAT MAY BE TRANSFERRED TO A 
PERSON, WHETHER POSSESSION OF THE PRIZE IS 
ACTUALLY TRANSFERRED, OR PLACED ON AN 
ACCOUNT OR OTHER RECORD AS EVIDENCE OF THE 
INTENT TO TRANSFER THE PRIZE. 



23 
 

   D. “SWEEPSTAKES TERMINAL DEVICE FACILITY” 
MEANS ANY LOCATION IN THIS MUNICIPALITY 
WHERE A SWEEPSTAKES TERMINAL DEVICE IS 
PROVIDED TO A SWEEPSTAKES PARTICIPANT, 
EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN OHIO R.C.  2915.02(G). 

 (bbb) “SWEEPSTAKES” MEANS ANY GAME, CONTEST, ADVERTISING 
SCHEME OR PLAN, OR OTHER PROMOTION WHERE 
CONSIDERATION IS NOT REQUIRED FOR A PERSON TO ENTER TO 
WIN OR BECOME ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE ANY PRIZE, THE 
DETERMINATION OF WHICH IS BASED UPON CHANCE.  
“SWEEPSTAKES” DOES NOT INCLUDE BINGO AS AUTHORIZED 
UNDER THIS CHAPTER, PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING AS 
AUTHORIZED BY OHIO R.C. CHAPTER 3769, LOTTERIES 
CONDUCTED BY THE STATE LOTTERY COMMISSION AS 
AUTHORIZED BY OHIO R.C. CHAPTER 3770, AND CASINO GAMING 
AS AUTHORIZED BY OHIO R.C. CHAPTER 3772. 

  (ORC 2915.01) 
 
 
517.02 GAMBLING 
 [No changes to this Section until paragraph (a)(5)] 
 (a) (5) CONDUCT, OR PARTICIPATE IN THE CONDUCT OF, A 

SWEEPSTAKES WITH THE USE OF A SWEEPSTAKES 
TERMINAL DEVICE AT A SWEEPSTAKES TERMINAL DEVICE 
FACILITY AND EITHER: 

   A. GIVE TO ANOTHER PERSON ANY ITEM DESCRIBED IN 
SUBSECTION (vv)(1), (2), (3) OR (4) OF SECTION 517.01 AS 
A PRIZE FOR PLAYING OR PARTICIPATING IN A 
SWEEPSTAKES; OR 

   B. GIVE TO ANOTHER PERSON ANY MERCHANDISE 
PRIZE, OR A REDEEMABLE VOUCHER FOR A 
MERCHANDISE PRIZE, THE WHOLESALE VALUE OF 
WHICH IS IN EXCESS OF TEN DOLLARS AND WHICH IS 
AWARDED AS A SINGLE ENTRY FOR PLAYING OR 
PARTICIPATING IN A SWEEPSTAKES.  REDEEMABLE 
VOUCHERS SHALL NOT BE REDEEMABLE FOR A 
MERCHANDISE PRIZE THAT HAS A WHOLESALE 
VALUE OF MORE THAN TEN DOLLARS. 

  (6) CONDUCT, OR PARTICIPATE IN THE CONDUCT OF, A 
SWEEPSTAKES WITH THE USE OF A SWEEPSTAKES 
TERMINAL DEVICE AT A SWEEPSTAKES TERMINAL DEVICE 
FACILITY WITHOUT FIRST OBTAINING A CURRENT 
ANNUAL “CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION” FROM THE 
ATTORNEY GENERAL AS REQUIRED BY DIVISION (F) OF 
OHIO R.C. 2915.02. 



24 
 

(7) With purpose to violate subsection (a)(1), (2), (3), or (4) of this section, 
acquire, possess, control, or operate any gambling device. 

      
[No further changes to this Section until paragraph (d)(1)C.] 
(d) (1) C. The games of chance are conducted at festivals of the  

charitable organization that are conducted NOT MORE THAN A 
TOTAL OF FIVE DAYS A CALENDAR YEAR [either for a 
period of four consecutive days or less and not more than twice 
a year or for a period of five consecutive days not more than 
once a year,] and are conducted on premises owned by the 
charitable organization for a period of no less than one year 
immediately preceding the conducting of the games of chance, on 
premises leased from a governmental unit, or on premises that are 
leased from a veteran's or fraternal organization and that have been 
owned by the lessor veteran's or fraternal organization for a period 
of no less than one year immediately preceding the conducting of 
the games of chance. 
A charitable organization shall not lease premises from a veteran's 
or fraternal organization to conduct a festival described in 
subsection (d)(1)C. hereof if the veteran's or fraternal organization 
has already leased the premises twelve times during the preceding 
year to charitable organizations for that purpose. If a charitable 
organization leases premises from a veteran's or fraternal 
organization to conduct a festival described in subsection (d)(1)C. 
hereof, the charitable organization shall not pay a rental rate for the 
premises per day of the festival that exceeds the rental rate per 
bingo session that a charitable organization may pay under Section 
517.06(b)(1) when it leases premises from another charitable 
organization to conduct bingo games. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
517.06  METHODS OF CONDUCTING  A BINGO GAME; PROHIBITIONS. 

(a) No charitable organization that conducts bingo shall fail to do any of the 
following: 

(1) Own all of the equipment used to conduct bingo or lease that equipment 
from a charitable organization that is licensed to conduct bingo, or from 
the landlord of a premises where bingo is conducted, for a rental rate that 
is not more than is customary and reasonable for that equipment; 

(2) Use, or give, donate, or otherwise transfer, all of the net profit derived 
from bingo, other than instant bingo, for a charitable purpose listed in its 
license application and described in Section 517.01[(z)](v), or distribute 
all of the net profit from the proceeds of the sale of instant bingo as stated 
in its license application and in accordance with Ohio R.C. 2915.101. 

 

http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.06%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D


25 
 

(b) No charitable organization that conducts a bingo game described in Section 
517.01[(s)](o)(1) shall fail to do any of the following: 

(1) Conduct the bingo game on premises that are owned by the charitable 
organization, on premises that are owned by another charitable 
organization and leased from that charitable organization for a rental rate 
not in excess of the lesser of six hundred dollars ($600.00) per bingo 
session or forty-five per cent of the gross receipts of the bingo session, on 
premises that are leased from a person other than a charitable organization 
for a rental rate that is not more than is customary and reasonable for 
premises that are similar in location, size, and quality but not in excess of 
four hundred fifty dollars ($450.00) per bingo session, or on premises that 
are owned by a person other than a charitable organization, that are leased 
from that person by another charitable organization, and that are subleased 
from that other charitable organization by the charitable organization for a 
rental rate not in excess of four hundred fifty dollars ($450.00) per bingo 
session. NO CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION IS REQUIRED TO 
PAY PROPERTY TAXES OR ASSESSMENTS ON PREMISES 
THAT THE CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION LEASES FROM 
ANOTHER PERSON TO CONDUCT BINGO SESSIONS.  If the 
charitable organization leases from a person other than a charitable 
organization the premises on which it conducts bingo sessions, the lessor 
of the premises shall provide the premises to the organization and shall not 
provide the organization with bingo game operators, security personnel, 
concessions or concession operators, bingo supplies, or any other type of 
service. A charitable organization shall not lease or sublease premises that 
it owns or leases to more than [one] THREE other charitable organization 
per calendar week for [the purpose of] conducting bingo sessions on the 
premises. A person that is not a charitable organization shall not lease 
premises that it owns, leases, or otherwise is empowered to lease to more 
than three charitable organizations per calendar week for conducting bingo 
sessions on the premises. In no case shall more than nine bingo sessions be 
conducted on any premises in any calendar week. 

(2) Display its license conspicuously at the premises where the bingo session 
is conducted; 

(3) Conduct the bingo session in accordance with the definition of bingo set 
forth in Section 517.01[(s)](o)(1). 

 
(c) No charitable organization that conducts a bingo game described in Section 

517.01[(s)](o)(1) shall do any of the following: 
(1) Pay any compensation to a bingo game operator for operating a bingo 

session that is conducted by the charitable organization or for preparing, 
selling, or serving food or beverages at the site of the bingo session, 
permit any auxiliary unit or society of the charitable organization to pay 
compensation to any bingo game operator who prepares, sells, or serves 
food or beverages at a bingo session conducted by the charitable 
organization, or permit any auxiliary unit or society of the charitable 

http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D


26 
 

organization to prepare, sell, or serve food or beverages at a bingo session 
conducted by the charitable organization, if the auxiliary unit or society 
pays any compensation to the bingo game operators who prepare, sell, or 
serve the food or beverages; 

(2) Pay consulting fees to any person for any services performed in relation to 
the bingo session; 

(3) Pay concession fees to any person who provides refreshments to the 
participants in the bingo session; 

(4) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (c)(4) of this section, conduct 
more than three bingo sessions in any seven-day period. A volunteer 
firefighter's organization or a volunteer rescue service organization that 
conducts not more than five bingo sessions in a calendar year may conduct 
more than three bingo sessions in a seven-day period after notifying the 
Attorney General when it will conduct the sessions; 

(5) Pay out more than six thousand dollars ($6,000) in prizes for bingo games 
described in Section 517.01[(s)](o)(1) during any bingo session that is 
conducted by the charitable organization. “Prizes” does not include awards 
from the conduct of instant bingo; 

(6) Conduct a bingo session at any time during the [ten]EIGHT-hour period 
between [midnight] TWO A.M. and ten a.m., at any time during, or 
within ten hours of, a bingo game conducted for amusement only pursuant 
to Ohio R.C. 2915.12, at any premises not specified on its license, or on 
any day of the week or during any time period not specified on its license. 
Subsection (c)(6) of this section does not prohibit the sale of instant bingo 
tickets beginning at nine a.m. for a bingo session that begins at ten a.m. If 
circumstances make it impractical for the charitable organization to 
conduct a bingo session at the premises, or on the day of the week or at the 
time, specified on its license or if a charitable organization wants to 
conduct bingo sessions on a day of the week or at a time other than the day 
or time specified on its license, the charitable organization may apply in 
writing to the Attorney General for an amended license, pursuant to 
division (F) of Ohio R.C. 2915.08. A charitable organization may apply 
twice in each calendar year for an amended license to conduct bingo 
sessions on a day of the week or at a time other than the day or time 
specified on its license. If the amended license is granted, the organization 
may conduct bingo sessions at the premises, on the day of the week, and at 
the time specified on its amended license; 

(7) Permit any person whom the charitable organization knows, or should 
have known, is under the age of eighteen to work as a bingo game 
operator; 

(8) Permit any person whom the charitable organization knows, or should 
have known, has been convicted of a felony or gambling offense in any 
jurisdiction to be a bingo game operator; 

(9) Permit the lessor of the premises on which the bingo session is conducted, 
if the lessor is not a charitable organization, to provide the charitable 

http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D


27 
 

organization with bingo game operators, security personnel, concessions, 
bingo supplies, or any other type of service; 

(10) Purchase or lease bingo supplies from any person except a distributor 
issued a license under Ohio R.C. 2915.081; 

(11) A. Use or permit the use of electronic bingo aids except  
  under the following circumstances: 

1. For any single participant, not more than ninety bingo faces 
can be played using an electronic bingo aid or aids. 

2. The charitable organization shall provide a participant 
using an electronic bingo aid with corresponding paper 
bingo cards or sheets. 

3. The total price of bingo faces played with an electronic 
bingo aid shall be equal to the total price of the same 
number of bingo faces played with a paper bingo card or 
sheet sold at the same bingo session but without an 
electronic bingo aid. 

4. An electronic bingo aid cannot be part of an electronic 
network other than a network that includes only bingo aids 
and devices that are located on the premises at which the 
bingo is being conducted or be interactive with any device 
not located on the premises at which the bingo is being 
conducted. 

5. An electronic bingo aid cannot be used to participate in 
bingo that is conducted at a location other than the location 
at which the bingo session is conducted and at which the 
electronic bingo aid is used. 

6. An electronic bingo aid cannot be used to provide for the 
input of numbers and letters announced by a bingo caller 
other than the bingo caller who physically calls the 
numbers and letters at the location at which the bingo 
session is conducted and at which the electronic bingo aid 
is used. 

B. The Attorney General may adopt rules in accordance with Ohio 
R.C. Chapter 119 that govern the use of electronic bingo aids. The 
rules may include a requirement that an electronic bingo aid be 
capable of being audited by the Attorney General to verify the 
number of bingo cards or sheets played during each bingo session. 

(12) Permit any person the charitable organization knows, or should have 
known, to be under eighteen years of age to play bingo described in 
Section 517.01[(s)](o)(1). [(Ord. 110-10. Passed 12-6-10.)] 

 [No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D


28 
 

517.07 INSTANT BINGO CONDUCT. 
 [No changes until Paragraph (a) (10)] 

(a) (10) Pay fees to any person for any services performed in relation  
to an instant bingo game, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 
517.09(d); 

 
 [No further changes until Paragraph (b)] 
 (b) [(1) A charitable organization may conduct instant bingo other than at a 

bingo session at not more than five separate locations. A charitable 
organization that is exempt from federal taxation under subsection 
501(a) and described in subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code and that is created by a veteran's organization or a fraternal 
organization is not limited in the number of separate locations the 
charitable organization may conduct instant bingo other than at a 
bingo session. 

(2)]  A charitable organization may purchase, lease, or use instant bingo ticket 
dispensers to sell instant bingo tickets or cards.  [(Ord. 110-10. Passed 
12-6-10.)] 

 [No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
517.08 RAFFLES 

(a) (1) Subject to subsection (a)(2) of this section, a charitable organization, a  
public school, a chartered nonpublic school, a community school, or a 
veteran’s organization, fraternal organization, or sporting organization that 
is exempt from federal income taxation under subsection 501(a) and is 
described in subsection 501(c)(3), 501(c)(4), 501(c)(7), 501(c)(8), 
501(c)(10), or 501(c)(19) of the Internal Revenue Code may conduct a 
raffle to raise money for the organization or school and does not need a 
license to conduct bingo in order to conduct a raffle drawing that is not for 
profit. 

(2) If a charitable organization that is described in subsection (a)(1) of this 
section, but that is not also described in subsection 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code, conducts a raffle, the charitable organization shall 
distribute at least fifty per cent of the net profit from the raffle to a 
charitable purpose described in Section 517.01[(z)](o) or to a department 
or agency of the federal government, the state, or any political subdivision. 

 [No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
517.09 CHARITABLE INSTANT BINGO ORGANIZATIONS. 

(a) As used in this section, "retail income from all commercial activity" means the 
income that a person receives from the provision of goods, services, or activities that are 
provided at the location where instant bingo other than at a bingo session is conducted, including 
the sale of instant bingo tickets.  A religious organization that is exempt from federal income 
taxation under subsection 501(a) and described in subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 

http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D


29 
 

Code, at not more than one location at which it conducts its charitable programs, may include 
donations from its members and guests as retail income. 

 
[(b) A charitable instant bingo organization may conduct instant bingo other 

than at a bingo session at not more than five separate locations.] 
 
[(c)](b)(1) If a charitable instant bingo organization conducts  

 instant bingo other than at a bingo session, the charitable instant 
bingo organization shall enter into a written contract with the 
owner or lessor of the location at which the instant bingo is 
conducted to allow the owner or lessor to assist in the conduct of 
instant bingo other than at a bingo session, identify each location 
where the instant bingo other than at a bingo session is being 
conducted, and identify the owner or lessor of each location. 

 (2) A charitable instant bingo organization that conducts instant bingo 
other than at a bingo session is not required to enter into a written 
contract with the owner or lessor of the location at which the 
instant bingo is conducted provided that the owner or lessor is not 
assisting in the conduct of the instant bingo other than at a bingo 
session and provided that the conduct of the instant bingo other 
than at a bingo session at that location is not more than five days 
per calendar year and not more than ten hours per day. 

 
 [(d)](c) Except as provided in subsection [(g)](f) of this section, no charitable instant 
bingo organization shall conduct instant bingo other than at a bingo session at a location where 
the primary source of retail income from all commercial activity at that location is the sale of 
instant bingo tickets. 
 
 [(e)](d) The owner or lessor of a location that enters into a contract pursuant to 
subsection [(c)](b) of this section shall pay the full gross profit to the charitable instant bingo 
organization, in return for the deal of instant bingo tickets.  The owner or lessor may retain the 
money that the owner or lessor receives for selling the instant bingo tickets, provided, however, 
that after the deal has been sold, the owner or lessor shall pay to the charitable instant bingo 
organization the value of any unredeemed instant bingo prizes remaining in the deal of instant 
bingo tickets. 
 THE CHARITABLE INSTANT BINGO ORGANIZATION SHALL PAY SIX PER 
CENT OF THE TOTAL GROSS RECEIPTS OF ANY DEAL OF INSTANT BINGO 
TICKETS FOR THE PURPOSE OF REIMBURSING THE OWNER OR LESSOR FOR 
EXPENSES DESCRIBED IN THIS SUBSECTION. 
 AS USED IN THIS SUBSECTION “EXPENSES” MEANS THOSE ITEMS 
PROVIDED FOR IN SUBSECTION (gg)(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (12) AND (13) OF SECTION 
517.01 AND THAT PERCENTAGE OF THE OWNER’S OR LESSOR’S RENT FOR 
THE LOCATION WHERE INSTANT BINGO IS CONDUCTED.  “EXPENSES” IN THE 
AGGREGATE, SHALL NOT EXCEED SIX PER CENT OF THE TOTAL GROSS 
RECEIPTS OF ANY DEAL OF INSTANT BINGO TICKETS. 



30 
 

 As used in this subsection, “full gross profit” means the amount by which the total 
receipts of all instant bingo tickets, if the deal had been sold in full, exceeds the amount that 
would be paid out if all prizes were redeemed. 
 
 [(f)](e) A charitable instant bingo organization shall provide the Attorney General with 
all of the following information: 
  (1) That the charitable instant bingo organization has terminated a contract 

entered into pursuant to subsection [(c)](b) of this section with an owner 
or lessor of a location; 

(2) That the charitable instant bingo organization has entered into a written 
contract pursuant to subsection [(c)](b) of this section with a new owner or 
lessor of a location; 

(3) That the charitable instant bingo organization is aware of conduct by the 
owner or lessor of a location at which instant bingo is conducted that is in 
violation of this chapter or Ohio R.C. Chapter 2915. 

 
[(g)](f) Subsection [(d)](c) of this section does not apply to a volunteer firefighter’s 

organization that is exempt from federal income taxation under subsection 501(a) and described 
in subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, that conducts instant bingo other than at a 
bingo session on the premises where the organization conducts firefighter training, that has 
conducted instant bingo continuously for at least five years prior to July 1, 2003, and that, during 
each of those five years, had gross receipts of at least one million five hundred thousand dollars. 
(ORC 2915.093[; Ord. 87-05.  Passed 5-9-05.]) 
 
 
517.10 LOCATION OF INSTANT BINGO. 

(a) No owner or lessor of a location shall assist a charitable instant bingo 
organization in the conduct of  instant bingo other than at a bingo session at that location unless 
the owner or lessor has entered into a written contract, as described in Section 517.09[(c)], with 
the charitable instant bingo organization to assist in the conduct of instant bingo other than at a 
bingo session. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
517.11 BINGO OR GAME OF CHANCE RECORDS. 

[No changes until Paragraph (a)(4)] 
(a) (4) An itemized list of the recipients of the net profit of the bingo  

or game of chance, including the name and address of each recipient to 
whom the money is distributed, and if the organization uses the net profit 
of bingo, or the money or assets received from a game of chance, for any 
charitable or other purpose set forth in Section 517.01[(z)](v), Section 
517.02(d), or Ohio R.C. 2915.101, a list of each purpose and an itemized 
list of each expenditure for each purpose; 

(5)      The number of persons who participate in any bingo session or game of 
chance that is conducted by the charitable organization; 

http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.09%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.02%5D


31 
 

(6) A list of receipts from the sale of food and beverages by the charitable 
organization or one of its auxiliary units or societies, if the receipts were 
excluded from "gross receipts" Section 517.01[(x)](t); 

 
[No further changes until Paragraph (c)] 
(c) The gross profit from each bingo session or game described in Section 

517.01[(s)](o)(1) or (2) shall be deposited into a checking account devoted exclusively to the 
bingo session or game. Payments for allowable expenses incurred in conducting the bingo 
session or game and payments to recipients of some or all of the net profit of the bingo session or 
game shall be made only by checks OR ELECTRONIC FUND TRANSFERS drawn on the 
bingo session or game account. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 

 
517.13 BINGO EXCEPTIONS. 
 [No changes until Paragraph (a)(1)D.2.] 
 (a) (1) D. 2. A scheme or game of chance or bingo described in Section  
     517.01[(s)](o)(2). 

 
[No further changes until Paragraph (a)(2)F.2.] 
(a) (2) F. 2. A scheme of chance or game of chance or bingo described  
    in Section 517.01[(s)](o)(2). 
[No further changes to this Section.] 

 
 
517.15 SKILL-BASED AMUSEMENT MACHINES. 

(a) (1) No person shall give to another person any item described in Section  
517.01[(bbb)](vv)(1), (2), (3), or (4) in exchange for a noncash prize, toy, 
or novelty received as a reward for playing or operating a skill-based 
amusement machine or for a free or reduced-prize game won on a skill-
based amusement machine. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
525.02 FALSIFICATION. 
 [No changes to this Section until paragraph (a)(4)] 
 (a) (4) The statement is made with purpose to secure the payment of  

unemployment compensation; Ohio works first; prevention, retention and 
contingency benefits and services; disability financial assistance; 
retirement benefits OR HEALTH CARE COVERAGE FROM A 
STATE RETIREMENT SYSTEM; economic development assistance as 
defined in Ohio R.C. 9.66; or other benefits administered by a 
governmental agency or paid out of a public treasury. 

 [No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 

http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D
http://www.conwaygreene.com/fairfield/lpext.dll?f=FifLink&t=document-frame.htm&l=query&iid=4dbb0031.360714b0.0.0&q=%5BGroup%20517.01%5D


32 
 

537.03 ASSAULT. 
 [No changes to this Section until paragraph (c)] 

(c)     (1) Whoever violates this section is guilty of assault, a misdemeanor of the  
first degree, and the court shall sentence the offender as provided in 
subsection (c) hereof.  If the assault was committed under the 
circumstances provided in subsection (c)[(1),] (2), (3), [or] (4), (5), (6), 
(7) or (8) hereof, assault is a felony and shall be prosecuted under 
appropriate State law. [(Ord. 145-09. Passed 12-14-09.)] 

[(1)](2) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, if the offense is 
committed by a caretaker against a functionally impaired person under the 
caretaker’s care. 

[(2)](3) If the offense is committed in any of the following circumstances: 
A. The offense occurs in or on the grounds of a State correctional 

institution or an institution of the Department of Youth Services, 
the victim of the offense is an employee of the Department of 
Rehabilitation and Correction, the Department of Youth Services, 
or a probation department or is on the premises of the particular 
institution for business purposes or as a visitor, and the offense is 
committed by a person incarcerated in the State correctional 
institution, a person institutionalized in the Department of Youth 
Services institution pursuant to a commitment to the Department of 
Youth Services, by a parolee, by an offender under transitional 
control, under a community control sanction, or on an escorted 
visit, by a person under post-release control, or by an offender 
under any other type of supervision by a government agency. 

B.      The offense occurs in or on the grounds of a local correctional 
facility, the victim of the offense is an employee of the local 
correctional facility or a probation department or is on the premises 
of the facility for business purposes or as a visitor, and the offense 
is committed by a person who is under custody in the facility 
subsequent to the person’s arrest for any crime or delinquent act, 
subsequent to the person’s being charged with or convicted of any 
crime, or subsequent to the person’s being alleged to be or 
adjudicated a delinquent child. 

C. The offense occurs off the grounds of a State correctional 
institution and off the grounds of an institution of the Department 
of Youth Services, the victim of the offense is an employee of the 
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, the Department of 
Youth Services, or a probation department, the offense occurs 
during the employee’s official work hours and while the employee 
is engaged in official work responsibilities, and the offense is 
committed by a person incarcerated in a State correctional 
institution or institutionalized in the Department of Youth Services 
who temporarily is outside of the institution for any purpose, by a 
parolee, by an offender under transitional control, under a 
community control sanction, or on an escorted visit, by a person 



33 
 

under post-release control, or by an offender under any other type 
of supervision by a government agency. 

D. The offense occurs off the grounds of a local correctional facility, 
the victim of the offense is an employee of the local correctional 
facility or a probation department, the offense occurs during the 
employee’s official work hours and while the employee is engaged 
in official work responsibilities, and the offense is committed by a 
person who is under custody in the facility subsequent to the 
person’s arrest for any crime or delinquent act, subsequent to the 
person being charged with or convicted of any crime, or 
subsequent to the person being alleged to be or adjudicated a 
delinquent child and who temporarily is outside of the facility for 
any purpose or by a parolee, by an offender under transitional 
control, under a community control sanction, or on an escorted 
visit, by a person under post-release control, or by an offender 
under any other type of supervision by a government agency. 

E. The victim of the offense is a school teacher or administrator or a 
school bus operator, and the offense occurs in a school, on school 
premises, in a school building, on a school bus or while the victim 
is outside of school premises or a school bus and is engaged in 
duties or official responsibilities associated with the victim’s 
employment or position as a school teacher or administrator or a 
school bus operator, including, but not limited to, driving, 
accompanying, or chaperoning students at or on class or field trips, 
athletic events, or other school extracurricular activities or 
functions outside of school premises. 

[(3)](4) If the victim of the offense is a peace officer or an investigator of the 
Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation, a firefighter, or a 
person performing emergency medical service, while in the performance 
of their official duties. 

(5) IF THE VICTIM OF THE OFFENSE IS A PEACE OFFICER OR 
AN INVESTIGATOR OF THE BUEAU OF CRIMINAL 
IDENTIFICATION AND INVESTIGATION AND IF THE VICTIM 
SUFFERED SERIOUS PHYSICAL HARM AS A RESULT OF THE 
COMMISSION OF THE OFFENSE. 

[(4)](6) If the victim of the offense is an officer or employee of a public children 
services agency or a private child placing agency and the offense relates to 
the officer’s or employee’s performance or anticipated performance of 
official responsibilities or duties. [(ORC 2903.13; Ord. 139-07.  Passed 
11-19-07.)] 

  (7) IF THE VICTIM OF THE OFFENSE IS A HEALTH CARE 
PROFESSIONAL OF A HOSPITAL, A HEALTH CARE WORKER 
OF A HOSPITAL, OR A SECURITY OFFICER OF A HOSPITAL 
WHOM THE OFFENDER KNOWS OR HAS REASONABLE 
CAUSE TO KNOW IS A HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL OF A 
HOSPITAL; A HEALTH CARE WORKER OF A HOSPITAL, OR 



34 
 

A SECURITY OFFICER OF A HOSPITAL, IF THE VICTIM IS 
ENGAGED IN THE PERFORMANCE OF THE VICTIM’S 
DUTIES, AND IF THE HOSPITAL OFFERS DE-ESCALATION OR 
CRISIS INTERVENTION TRAINING FOR SUCH 
PROFESSIONALS, WORKERS OR OFFICERS, ASSAULT IS ONE 
OF THE FOLLOWING: 

   A. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION 
(c)(7)B. OF THIS SECTION, ASSAULT COMMITTED IN 
THE SPECIFIED CIRCUMSTANCES IS A 
MISDEMEANOR OF THE FIRST DEGREE.  
NOTWITHSTANDING THE FINE SPECIFIED IN 
DIVISION (A)(2)(B) OF OHIO R.C. 2929.28 FOR A 
MISDEMEANOR OF THE FIRST DEGREE, IN 
SENTENCING THE OFFENDER UNDER THIS 
SUBSECTION AND IF THE COURT DECIDES TO IMPOSE 
A FINE, THE COURT MAY IMPOSE UPON THE 
OFFENDER A FINE OF NOT MORE THAN FIVE 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,000). 

   B. IF THE OFFENDER PREVIOUSLY HAS BEEN 
CONVICTED OF OR PLEADED GUILTY TO ONE OR 
MORE ASSAULT OR HOMICIDE OFFENSES 
COMMITTED AGAINST HOSPITAL PERSONNEL, 
ASSAULT COMMITTED IN THE SPECIFIED 
CIRCUMSTANCES IS A FELONY. 

  (8) IF THE VICTIM OF THE OFFENSE IS A JUDGE, MAGISTRATE, 
PROSECUTOR OR COURT OFFICIAL OR EMPLOYEE WHOM 
THE OFFENDER KNOWS OR HAS REASONABLE CAUSE TO 
KNOW IS A JUDGE, MAGISTRATE, PROSECUTOR OR COURT 
OFFICIAL OR EMPLOYEE, AND IF THE VICTIM IS ENGAGED 
IN THE PERFORMANCE OF THE VICTIM’S DUTIES, ASSAULT 
IS ONE OF THE FOLLOWING: 

   A. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION 
(c)(8)B. OF THIS SECTION, ASSAULT COMMITTED IN 
THE SPECIFIED CIRCUMSTANCES IS A 
MISDEMEANOR OF THE FIRST DEGREE.  IN 
SENTENCING THE OFFENDER UNDER THIS 
SUBSECTION, IF THE COURT DECIDES TO IMPOSE A 
FINE, NOTWITHSTANDING THE FINE SPECIFIED IN 
DIVISION (A)(2)(b) OF OHIO R.C. 2929.28 FOR A 
MISDEMEANOR OF THE FIRST DEGREE, THE COURT 
MAY IMPOSE UPON THE OFFENDER A FINE OF NOT 
MORE THAN FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,000). 

   B. IF THE OFFENDER PREVIOUSLY HAS BEEN 
CONVICTED OF OR PLEADED GUILTY TO ONE OR 
MORE ASSAULT OR HOMICIDE OFFENSES 
COMMITTED AGAINST JUSTICE SYSTEM PERSONNEL, 



35 
 

ASSAULT COMMITTED IN THE SPECIFIED 
CIRCUMSTANCES IS A FELONY. 

[(5)](9) If an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to assault when it is a 
misdemeanor also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification as 
described in Ohio R.C. 2941.1423 that was included in the indictment, 
count in the indictment or information charging the offense, the court shall 
sentence the offender to a mandatory jail term as provided in division (G) 
of Ohio R.C. 2929.24. [(Ord. 145-09.  Passed 12-14-09.)] 

 
[No further changes until Paragraph (d)(6)A.] 
(d) (6) A. A person who is employed in the public schools of the State under  

a contract described in Ohio R.C. 3311.77 OR 3319.08 in a 
position in which the person is required to have a certificate issued 
pursuant to Ohio R.C. 3319.22 to 3319.311. 

 
 [No further changes until Paragraph (d)(11)] 
  (11) “HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONAL” AND “HEALTH CARE 

WORKER” HAVE THE SAME MEANINGS AS IN OHIO R.C. 
2305.234. 

  (12) “ASSAULT OR HOMICIDE OFFENSE COMMITTED AGAINST 
HOSPITAL PERSONNEL” MEANS A VIOLATION OF THIS 
SECTION OR OHIO R.C. 2903.01, 2903.02, 2903.03, 2903.04, 
2903.041, 2903.11, 2903.12, 2903.13 OR 2903.14 COMMITTED IN 
CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH ALL OF THE FOLLOWING 
APPLY: 

   A. THE VICTIM OF THE OFFENSE WAS A HEALTH CARE 
PROFESSIONAL OF A HOSPITAL, A HEALTH CARE 
WORKER OF A HOSPITAL OR A SECURITY OFFICER 
OF A HOSPITAL. 

   B. THE OFFENDER KNEW OR HAD REASONABLE CAUSE 
TO KNOW THAT THE VICTIM WAS A HEALTH CARE 
PROFESSIONAL OF A HOSPITAL, A HEALTH CARE 
WORKER OF A HOSPITAL, OR A SECURITY OFFICER 
OF A HOSPITAL; 

   C. THE VICTIM WAS ENGAGED IN THE PERFORMANCE 
OF THE VICTIM’S DUTIES. 

   D. THE HOSPITAL OFFERED DE-ESCALATION OR CRISIS 
INTERVENTION TRAINING FOR SUCH 
PROFESSIONALS, WORKERS OR OFFICERS. 

  (13) “DE-ESCALATION OR CRISIS INTERVENTION TRAINING” 
MEANS DE-ESCALATION OR CRISIS INTERVENTION 
TRAINING FOR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS OF A 
HOSPITAL, HEALTH CARE WORKERS OF A HOSPITAL, AND 
SECURITY OFFICERS OF A HOSPITAL TO FACILITATE 
INTERACTION WITH PATIENTS, MEMBERS OF A PATIENT’S 
FAMILY, AND VISITORS, INCLUDING THOSE WITH MENTAL 



36 
 

IMPAIRMENTS. 
  (14) “ASSAULT OR HOMICIDE OFFENSE COMMITTED AGAINST 

JUSTICE SYSTEM PERSONNEL” MEANS A VIOLATION OF 
THIS SECTION OR OF OHIO R.C. 2903.01, 2903.02, 2903.03, 
2903.04, 2903.041, 2903.11, 2903.12, 2903.13 OR 2903.14 
COMMITTED IN CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH THE VICTIM 
OF THE OFFENSE WAS A JUDGE, MAGISTRATE, 
PROSECUTOR, OR COURT OFFICIAL OR EMPLOYEE WHOM 
THE OFFENDER KNEW OR HAD REASONABLE CAUSE TO 
KNOW WAS A JUDGE, MAGISTRATE, PROSECUTOR, OR 
COURT OFFICIAL OR EMPLOYEE, AND THE VICTIM WAS 
ENGAGED IN THE PERFORMANCE OF THE VICTIM’S 
DUTIES. 

  (15) “COURT OFFICIAL OR EMPLOYEE” MEANS ANY OFFICIAL 
OR EMPLOYEE OF A COURT CREATED UNDER THE 
CONSTITUTION OR STATUTES OF THIS STATE OR OF A 
UNITED STATES COURT LOCATED IN THIS STATE. 

  (16) “JUDGE” MEANS A JUDGE OF A COURT CREATED UNDER 
THE CONSTITUTION OR STATUTES OF THIS STATE OR OF A 
UNITED STATES COURT LOCATED IN THIS STATE. 

  (17) “MAGISTRATE” MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS APPOINTED 
BY A COURT OF RECORD OF THIS STATE AND WHO HAS 
THE POWERS AND MAY PERFORM THE FUNCTIONS 
SPECIFIED IN CIVIL RULE 53, CRIMINAL RULE 19, OR 
JUVENILE RULE 40, OR AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS APPOINTED 
BY A UNITED STATES COURT LOCATED IN THIS STATE WHO 
HAS SIMILAR POWERS AND FUNCTIONS. 

  (18) “PROSECUTOR” HAS THE SAME MEANING AS IN OHIO R.C. 
2935.01. 

  (19) A. “HOSPITAL” MEANS, SUBJECT TO SUBSECTION 
(d)(19)B. OF THIS SECTION, AN INSTITUTION 
CLASSIFIED AS A HOSPITAL UNDER OHIO R.C. 3701.01 
IN WHICH ARE PROVIDED TO PATIENTS DIAGNOSTIC, 
MEDICAL, SURGICAL, OBSTETRICAL, PSYCHIATRIC, 
OR REHABILITATION CARE OR A HOSPITAL 
OPERATED BY A HEALTH MAINTENANCE 
ORGANIZATION. 

   B. “HOSPITAL” DOES NOT INCLUDE ANY OF THE 
FOLLOWING: 

    1. A FACILITY LICENSED UNDER OHIO R.C. 
CHAPTER 3721, A HEALTH CARE FACILITY 
OPERATED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL 
HEALTH OR THE DEPARTMENT OF 
DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES, A HEALTH 
MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION THAT DOES 
NOT OPERATE A HOSPITAL, OR THE OFFICE OF 



37 
 

ANY PRIVATE, LICENSED HEALTH CARE 
PROFESSIONAL, WHETHER ORGANIZED FOR 
INDIVIDUAL OR GROUP PRACTICE; 

    2. AN INSTITUTION FOR THE SICK THAT IS 
OPERATED EXCLUSIVELY FOR PATIENTS WHO 
USE SPIRITUAL MEANS FOR HEALING AND FOR 
WHOM THE ACCEPTANCE OF MEDICAL CARE 
IS INCONSISTENT WITH THEIR RELIGIOUS 
BELIEFS, ACCREDITED BY A NATIONAL 
ACCREDITING ORGANIZATION, EXEMPT FROM 
FEDERAL INCOME TAXATION UNDER SECTION 
501 OF THE “INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 
1986", 100 STAT. 2085, 26 U.S.C. 1, AS AMENDED, 
AND PROVIDING TWENTY-FOUR-HOUR 
NURSING CARE PURSUANT TO THE EXEMPTION 
IN DIVISION (E) OF OHIO R.C. 4723.32 FROM THE 
LICENSING REQUIREMENTS OF OHIO R.C. 
CHAPTER 4723. 

  (20) “HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION” HAS THE SAME 
MEANING AS IN OHIO R.C. 3727.01.  (ORC 2903.13) 

 
 
537.12 MISUSE OF 9-1-1 SYSTEM. 
 (a) “9-1-1 system” means a system through which individuals can request emergency 
service using the telephone number 9-1-1.  (ORC [4931.40] 5507.01) 
 
 (b) No person shall knowingly use the telephone number of the 9-1-1 system 
established under Ohio R.C. [4931.40 to 4931.70] 5507 to report an emergency if he knows that 
no emergency exists.  
 
 (c) No person shall knowingly use a 9-1-1 system for a purpose other than obtaining 
emergency service. 
 
 (d) No person shall disclose or use any information concerning telephone numbers, 
addresses, or names obtained from the data base that serves the public safety answering point of 
a 9-1-1 system established under Ohio R.C. [4931.40 to 4931.70] 5507, except for any of the 
following purposes or under any of the following circumstances: 
  (1) For the purpose of the 9-1-1 system; 
  (2) For the purpose of responding to an emergency call to an emergency 

service provider; 
  (3) In the circumstance of the inadvertent disclosure of such information due 

solely to technology of the wireline telephone network portion of the 9-1-1 
system not allowing access to the data base to be restricted to 9-1-1 
specific answering lines at a public safety answering point; 

  (4) In the circumstance of access to a data base being given by a telephone 
company that is a wireline service provider to a public utility or municipal 



38 
 

utility in handling customer calls in times of public emergency or service 
outages.  The charge, terms, and conditions for the disclosure or use of 
such information for the purpose of such access to a data base shall be 
subject to the jurisdiction of the [Public Utilities Commission] 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY. 

  (5) In the circumstance of access to a data base given by a telephone company 
that is a wireline service provider to a state and local government in 
warning of a public emergency, as determined by the [Public Utilities 
Commission] DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY.  The charge, 
terms, and conditions for the disclosure or use of that information for the 
purpose of access to a data base is subject to the jurisdiction of the [Public 
Utilities Commission] DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY.  (ORC 
[4931.49] 5507.32) 

 [No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
545.01 DEFINITIONS. 
 [No changes to this Section until Paragraph (e)] 
 (e)     "Services" include labor, personal services, professional services,  

rental services, public utility services, including wireless service as defined in 
Ohio R.C. [4931.40] 5507(F)(1), common carrier services, and food, drink, 
transportation, entertainment and cable television services. [(Ord. 145-09.  
Passed 12-14-09.)] 

 [No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
545.05 PETTY THEFT. 
 [No changes to this Section until Paragraph (b)(8)] 

(b) (8) THE PROPERTY STOLEN IS A SPECIAL PURPOSE ARTICLE 
AS DEFINED IN OHIO R.C. 4737.04 OR A BULK MERCHANDISE 
CONTAINER AS DEFINED IN OHIO R.C. 4737.012. 

[No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
545.18 RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY. 
 [No changes to this Section until Paragraph (c)(2)D.] 
 (c) (2) D. THE SPECIAL PURCHASE ARTICLE AS DEFINED IN  

OHIO R.C. 4737.04 OR A BULK MERCHANDISE 
CONTAINER AS DEFEINDED IN OHIO R.C. 4737.012.  
(ORC 2913.51) 

 
 
549.01 DEFINITIONS. 
 [No changes to this Section until Paragraph (n)] 
 (n) (1) “CONCEALED HANDGUN LICENSE” OR “LICENSE TO CARRY 

A CONCEALED HANDGUN” MEANS, SUBJECT TO 



39 
 

SUBSECTION (n)(2) OF THIS SECTION, A LICENSE OR 
TEMPORARY EMERGENCY LICENSE TO CARRY A 
CONCEALED HANDGUN ISSUED UNDER OHIO R.C. 2923.125 
OR 2923.1213 OR A LICENSE TO CARRY A CONCEALED 
HANDGUN ISSUED BY ANOTHER STATE WITH WHICH THE 
ATTORNEY GENERAL HAS ENTERED INTO A RECIPROCITY 
AGREEMENT UNDER OHIO R.C. 109.69. 

  (2) A REFERENCE IN ANY PROVISION OF THE OHIO REVISED 
CODE TO A CONCEALED HANDGUN LICENSE ISSUED UNDER 
OHIO R.C. 2923.125 OR A LICENSE TO CARRY A CONCEALED 
HANDGUN ISSUED UNDER OHIO R.C. 2923.125 MEANS ONLY A 
LICENSE OF THE TYPE THAT IS SPECIFIED IN THAT 
SECTION.  A REFERENCE IN ANY PROVISION OF THE OHIO 
REVISED CODE TO A CONCEALED HANDGUN LICENSE 
ISSUED UNDER OHIO R.C. 2923.1213, A LICENCE TO CARRY A 
CONCEALED HANDGUN ISSUED UNDER OHIO R.C. 2923.1213, 
OR A LICENSE TO CARRY A CONCEALED HANDGUN ON A 
TEMPORARY EMERGENCY BASIS MEANS ONLY A LICENSE 
OF THE TYPE THAT IS SPECIFIED IN OHIO R.C. 2923.1213.  A 
REFERENCE IN ANY PROVISION OF THE OHIO REVISED 
CODE TO A CONCEALED HANDGUN LICENSE ISSUED BY 
ANOTHER STATE OR A LICENSE TO CARRY A CONCEALED 
HANDGUN ISSUED BY ANOTHER STATE MEANS ONLY A 
LICENSE ISSUED BY ANOTHER STATE WITH WHICH THE 
ATTORNEY GENERAL HAS ENTERED INTO A RECIPROCITY 
AGREEMENT UNDER OHIO R.C. 109.69. 

 (o) “VALID CONCEALED HANDGUN LICENSE” OR “VALID LICENSE TO 
CARRY A CONCEALED HANDGUN” MEANS A CONCEALED 
HANDGUN LICENSE THAT IS CURRENTLY VALID, THAT IS NOT 
UNDER A SUSPENSION UNDER DIVISION (A)(1) OF OHIO R.C. 
2923.128, UNDER OHIO R.C. 2923.1213, OR UNDER A SUSPENSION 
PROVISION OF THE STATE OTHER THAN THIS STATE IN WHICH 
THE LICENSE WAS ISSUED, AND THAT HAS NOT BEEN REVOKED 
UNDER DIVISION (B)(1) OF OHIO R.C. 2923.128, UNDER OHIO R.C. 
2923.1213 OR UNDER A REVOCATION PROVISION OF THE STATE 
OTHER THAN THIS STATE IN WHICH THE LICENSE WAS ISSUED. 

  (ORC 2923.11) 
 
 
549.02 CARRYING CONCEALED WEAPONS. 
 [No changes to this Section until Paragraph (b)] 
 (b)     No person who has been issued a CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or 
temporary emergency license to carry a concealed handgun under Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or 
2923.1213 or a license to carry a concealed handgun that was issued by another state with 
which the Attorney General has entered into a reciprocity agreement under Ohio R.C. 
109.69], shall do any of the following: 



40 
 

  (1) If the person is stopped for a law enforcement purpose, and is carrying a 
concealed handgun, fail to promptly inform any law enforcement officer 
who approaches the person after the person has been stopped that the 
person has been issued a CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or 
temporary emergency license to carry a concealed handgun] and that 
the person then is carrying a concealed handgun; 

  (2) If the person is stopped for a law enforcement purpose and [if the person] 
is carrying a concealed handgun, knowingly fail to keep the person’s 
hands in plain sight at any time after any law enforcement officer begins 
approaching the person while stopped and before the law enforcement 
officer leaves, unless the failure is pursuant to and in accordance with 
directions given by a law enforcement officer; 

  (3) If the person is stopped for a law enforcement purpose and [if the person] 
is carrying a concealed handgun, knowingly disregard or fail to comply 
with any lawful order of any law enforcement officer given while the 
person is stopped, including, but not limited to, a specific order to the 
person to keep the person’s hands in plain sight. 

 
 (c) (1) This section does not apply to any of the following: 
   A. An officer, agent or employee or this or any other state or the 

United States, or to a law enforcement officer, who is authorized to 
carry concealed weapons or dangerous ordnance, or is authorized 
to carry handguns and is acting within the scope of the officer’s, 
agent’s or employee’s duties; 

   B. Any person who is employed in this State, who is authorized to 
carry concealed weapons or dangerous ordnance or is authorized to 
carry handguns, and who is subject to and in compliance with the 
requirements of Ohio R.C. 109.801 unless the appointing authority 
of the person has expressly specified that the exemption provided 
in subsection (c)(1)B. hereof does not apply to the person. 

   C. A person’s transportation or storage of a firearm, other than a 
firearm described in divisions (G) to (M) of Ohio R.C. 2923.11 in 
a motor vehicle for any lawful purpose if the firearm is not, on the 
actor’s person; 

   D. A person’s storage or possession of a firearm, other than a firearm 
described in divisions (G) to (M) of Ohio R.C. 2923.11 in the 
actor’s own home for any lawful purpose. 

  (2) Subsection (a)(2) of this section does not apply to any person who, at the 
time of the alleged carrying or possession of a handgun, is carrying a valid 
CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or temporary emergency license 
to carry a concealed handgun issued to the person under Ohio R.C. 
2923.125 or 2923.1213 or a license to carry a concealed handgun that 
was issued by another state with which the Attorney General has 
entered into a reciprocity agreement under Ohio R.C. 109.69], unless 
the person knowingly is in a place described in division (B) of Ohio R.C. 
2923.126. 



41 
 

 
 [No further changes until Paragraph (e)] 
 (e)     No person who is charged with a violation of this section shall be required to obtain 
a [license or temporary emergency license to carry a] concealed handgun LICENSE [under 
Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or 2923.1213] as a condition for the dismissal of the charge. 
 
 (f) (1) Whoever violates this section is guilty of carrying concealed weapons.  

Except as otherwise provided in this subsection or subsection (f)(2) of this 
section, carrying concealed weapons in violation of subsection (a) of this 
section is a misdemeanor of the first degree.  Except as otherwise provided 
in this subsection or subsection (f)(2) of this section, if the offender 
previously has been convicted of a violation of this section or of any 
offense of violence, if the weapon involved is a firearm that is either 
loaded or for which the offender has ammunition ready at hand, or if the 
weapon involved is dangerous ordnance, carrying concealed weapons in 
violation of subsection (a) of this section is a felony and shall be 
prosecuted under appropriate State law.  Except as otherwise provided in 
subsection (f)(2) of this section, if the weapon involved is a firearm and 
the violation of this section is committed at premises for which a D permit 
has been issued under Chapter 4303, of the Revised Code or if the offense 
is committed aboard an aircraft, or with purpose to carry a concealed 
weapon aboard an aircraft, regardless of the weapon involved, carrying 
concealed weapons in  violation of subsection (a) of this section is a 
felony and shall be prosecuted under appropriate State law. 

  (2) If a person being arrested for a violation of subsection (a)(2) of this 
section promptly produces a valid CONCEALED HANDGUN license 
[or temporary emergency license issued under Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or 
2923.1213 or a license to carry a concealed handgun that was issued 
by another state with which the Attorney General has entered into a 
reciprocity agreement under Ohio R.C. 109.69,] and if at the time of the 
violation the person was not knowingly in a place described in division 
(B) of Ohio R.C. 2923.126, the officer shall not arrest the person for a 
violation of that subsection.  If the person is not able to promptly produce 
any [of those types of] CONCEALED HANDGUN license and if the 
person is not in a place described in that section, the officer may arrest the 
person for a violation of that subsection, and the offender shall be 
punished as follows: 

 A. The offender shall be guilty of a minor misdemeanor if both of the 
following apply: 

    1. Within ten days after the arrest, the offender presents a 
CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or temporary 
emergency license to carry a concealed handgun issued 
under Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or 2923.1213 or a license to 
carry a concealed handgun that was issued by another 
state with which the Attorney General has entered into 
a reciprocity agreement under Ohio R.C. 109.69], which 



42 
 

license was valid at the time of the arrest to the law 
enforcement agency that employs the arresting officer. 

    2. At the time of the arrest, the offender was not knowingly in 
a place described in division (B) of Ohio R.C. 2923.126. 

   B. The offender shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be fined 
five hundred dollars ($500.00) if all of the following apply: 

    1. The offender previously had been issued a CONCEALED 
HANDGUN license [to carry a concealed handgun 
under Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or a license to carry a 
concealed handgun that was issued by another state 
with which the Attorney General has entered into a 
reciprocity agreement under Ohio R.C. 109.69, and that 
was similar in nature to a license issued under Ohio 
R.C. 2923.125] and that license expired within the two 
years immediately preceding the arrest. 

    2. Within forty-five days after the arrest, the offender presents 
any type of CONCEALED HANDGUN license 
[identified in subsection (f)(2)A.1. of this section] to the 
law enforcement agency that employed the arresting 
officer, and the offender waives in writing the offender’s 
right to a speedy trial on the charge of the violation that is 
provided in Ohio R.C. 2945.71. 

    3. At the time of the commission of the offense, the offender 
was not knowingly in a place described in division (B) of 
Ohio R.C. 2923.126. 

  C. If neither subsection (f)(2)A. nor B. of this section applies, the offender 
shall be punished under subsection (f)(1) of this section. 

 (3) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, carrying concealed weapons in 
violation of subsection (b)(1) hereof is a misdemeanor of the first degree, and, in 
addition to any other penalty or sanction imposed for a violation of subsection 
(b)(1) hereof, the offender’s CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or temporary 
emergency license to carry a concealed handgun] shall be suspended pursuant 
to Ohio R.C. 2923.128(A)(2). 

  If, at the time of the stop of the offender for a law enforcement purpose that was 
the basis of the violation, any law enforcement officer involved with the stop had 
actual knowledge that the offender has been issued a CONCEALED 
HANDGUN license [or temporary emergency license to carry a concealed 
handgun], carrying concealed weapons in violation of division (b)(1) of this 
section is a minor misdemeanor, and the offender’s CONCEALED HANDGUN 
license [or temporary emergency license to carry a concealed handgun] shall 
not be suspended pursuant to division (A)(2) of Ohio R.C. 2923.128. 

 (4)     Except as otherwise provided herein, carrying concealed weapons in violation of 
subsection (b)(2) or (b)(3) hereof is a misdemeanor of the first degree.  If the 
offender has previously been convicted or pleaded guilty to a violation of Ohio 
R.C. 2923.12(B)(2) or (B)(4) or a substantially equivalent municipal ordinance, 
carrying concealed weapons is a felony and shall be prosecuted under appropriate 



43 
 

state law.  In addition to any other penalty or sanction imposed for a violation of 
subsection (b)(2) or (b)(3) hereof, the offender’s CONCEALED HANDGUN 
license [or temporary emergency license to carry a concealed handgun] shall 
be suspended pursuant to Ohio R.C. 2923.128(A)(2). 

 [No further changes to this Section.] 
 
 
549.04 IMPROPERLY HANDLING FIREARMS IN A MOTOR VEHICLE. 
 [No changes to this Section until Paragraph (b)] 
 (b) No person who has been issued a CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or 
temporary emergency license to carry a concealed handgun under Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or 
2923.1213 or a license to carry a concealed handgun that was issued to the person by 
another state with which the Attorney General has entered into a reciprocity agreement 
under Ohio R.C. 109.69], who is the driver or an occupant of a motor vehicle that is stopped as 
a result of a traffic stop or a stop for another law enforcement purpose or is the driver or an 
occupant of a commercial motor vehicle that is stopped by an employee of the motor carrier 
enforcement unit for the purposes defined in Ohio R.C. 5503.34, and who is transporting or has a 
loaded handgun in the motor vehicle or commercial motor vehicle in any manner, shall do any of 
the following: 
  (1) Fail to promptly inform any law enforcement officer who approaches the 

vehicle while stopped that the person has been issued a CONCEALED 
HANDGUN license [or temporary emergency license to carry a 
concealed handgun] and that the person then possesses or has a loaded 
handgun in the motor vehicle; 

  (2) Fail to promptly inform the employee of the unit who approaches the 
vehicle while stopped that the person has been issued a CONCEALED 
HANDGUN license [or temporary emergency license to carry a 
concealed handgun] and that the person then possesses or has a loaded 
handgun in the commercial motor vehicle. 

 
 [No further changes to this Section until Paragraph (c)(2)A.] 

(c) (2) A. The person transporting or possessing the handgun is carrying a 
valid CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or temporary 
emergency license to carry a concealed handgun issued to the 
person under Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or 2923.1213 or a license to 
carry a concealed handgun that was issued by another state 
with which the Attorney General has entered into a reciprocity 
agreement under Ohio R.C. 109.69]. 

 
 [No further changes to this Section until Paragraph (e)] 

(e) (1) No person who is charged with a violation of subsection (a)  
shall be required to obtain a CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or 
temporary emergency license to carry a concealed handgun under 
Ohio R.C. 2923.125 or 2923.1213] as a condition for the dismissal of the 
charge. 



44 
 

(2) If a person is convicted of, was convicted of, pleads guilty to, or has 
pleaded guilty to a violation of subsection (b) of this section as it existed 
prior to SEPTEMBER 30, 2011, [the effective date of this amendment] 
and if the conduct that was the basis of the violation no longer would be a 
violation of subsection (b) of this section on or after SEPTEMBER 30, 
2011 [the effective date of this amendment], the person may file an 
application under Ohio R.C. 2953.37 requesting the expungement of the 
record of conviction. 
If a person is convicted of, was convicted of, pleads guilty to, or has 
pleaded guilty to a violation of subsection (a) of this section as the 
subsection existed prior to SEPTEMBER 30, 2011, [the effective date of 
this amendment] and if the conduct that was the basis of the violation no 
longer would be a violation of subsection (a) of this section on or after 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 [the effective date of this amendment] due to 
the application of subsection (b)(4) of this section as it exists on and after 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 [the effective date of this amendment], the 
person may file an application under Ohio R.C. 2953.37 requesting the 
expungement of the record of conviction. 

 
(f) Whoever violates this section is guilty of improperly handling firearms in a motor 

vehicle.  Violation of subsection (a) of this section is a misdemeanor of the fourth degree.  
Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a violation of subsection (b)(1) or (b)(2) of this 
section is a misdemeanor of the first degree, and, in addition to any other penalty or sanction 
imposed for the violation, the offender’s CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or temporary 
emergency license to carry a concealed handgun] shall be suspended pursuant to Ohio R.C. 
2923.128(A)(2).   If at the time of the stop of the offender for a traffic stop, for another law 
enforcement purpose, or for a purpose defined in Ohio R.C. 5503.34 that was the basis of the 
violation any law enforcement officer involved with the stop or the employee of the motor 
carrier enforcement unit who made the stop had actual knowledge of the offender’s status as a 
licensee, a violation of subsection (b)(1) or (b)(2) of this section is a minor misdemeanor, and the 
offender’s CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or temporary emergency license to carry a 
concealed handgun] shall not be suspended pursuant to division (A)(2) of Ohio R.C. 2923.128.  
A violation of subsection (b)(3) or (4) of this section is a misdemeanor of the first degree or, if 
the offender previously has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to a violation of subsection (b)(3) 
or (4) of this section, a felony and shall be prosecuted under appropriate State law.  In addition to 
any other penalty or sanction imposed for a misdemeanor violation of subsection (b)(3) or (4) of 
this section, the offender’s CONCEALED HANDGUN license [or temporary emergency 
license to carry a concealed handgun] shall be suspended pursuant to Ohio R.C. 
2923.128(A)(2). 
 
 [No further changes to this Section until Paragraph (h)(2)A.] 

(h) (2) A. “Unloaded” means [any of the following]: 
1. WITH RESPECT TO A FIREARM OTHER THAN A 

FIREARM DESCRIBED IN SUBSECTION (h)(2)B. 
OF THIS SECTION, THAT [N]no ammunition is in the 
firearm in question, and no [ammunition is loaded into a] 



45 
 

magazine or speed loader CONTAINING 
AMMUNITION IS INSERTED INTO THE FIREARM 
IN QUESTION AND ONE OF THE FOLLOWING 
APPLIES: [that may be used with the firearm in 
question and that is located anywhere within the vehicle 
in question, without regard to where ammunition 
otherwise is located within the vehicle in question.  For 
the purposes of this subsection (h)(2)A., ammunition 
held in stripper-clips or in en-bloc clips is not 
considered ammunition that is loaded into a magazine 
or speed loader;] 
a. THERE IS NO AMMUNITION IN A 

MAGAZINE OR SPEED LOADER THAT IS 
IN THE VEHICLE IN QUESTION AND THAT 
MAY BE USED WITH THE FIREARM IN 
QUESTION. 

b. ANY MAGAZINE OR SPEED LOADER THAT 
CONTAINS AMMUNITION AND THAT MAY 
BE USED WITH THE FIREARM IN 
QUESTION IS STORED IN A 
COMPARTMENT WITHIN THE VEHICLE IN 
QUESTION THAT CANNOT BE ACCESSED 
WITHOUT LEAVING THE VEHICLE OR IS 
STORED IN A CONTAINER THT PROVIDES 
COMPLETE AND SEPARATE ENCLOSURE. 

2. FOR THE PURPOSES OF SUBSECTION (h)(2)A.1.b. 
OF THIS SECTION, A “CONTAINER THAT 
PROVIDES COMPLETE AND SEPARATE 
ENCLOSURE” INCLUDES, BUT IS NOT LIMITED 
TO, ANY OF THE FOLLOWING: 
a. A PACKAGE, BOX OR CASE WITH 

MULTIPLE COMPARTMENTS, AS LONG AS 
THE LOADED MAGAZINE OR SPEED 
LOADER AND THE FIREARM IN QUESTION 
EITHER ARE IN SEPARATE 
COMPARTMENTS WITHIN THE PACKAGE, 
BOX, OR CASE, OR, IF THEY ARE IN THE 
SAME COMPARTMENT, THE MAGAZINE 
OR SPEED LOADER IS CONTAINED 
WITHIN A SEPARATE ENCLOSURE IN 
THAT COMPARTMENT THAT DOES NOT 
CONTAIN THE FIREARM AND THAT 
CLOSES USING A SNAP, BUTTON, BUCKLE, 
ZIPPER, HOOK AND LOOP CLOSING 
MECHANIZM, OR OTHER FASTENER 
THAT MUST BE OPENED TO ACCESS THE 



46 
 

CONTENTS OR THE FIREARM IS 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE SEPARATE 
ENCLOSURE OF THAT NATURE IN THAT 
COMPARTMENT THAT DOES NOT 
CONTAIN THE MAGAZINE OR SPEED 
LOADER. 

b. THE POCKET OR OTHER ENCLOSURE ON 
THE PERSON OF THE PERSON IN 
QUESTION THAT CLOSES USING A SNAP, 
BUTTON, BUCKLE, ZIPPER, HOOK AND 
LOOP CLOSING MECHANISM, OR OTHER 
FASTENER THAT MUST BE OPENED TO 
ACCESS THE CONTENTS. 

3. FOR THE PURPOSE OF SUBSECTION (h)(2)A. OF 
THIS SECTION, AMMUNITION HELD IN 
STRIPPER-CLIPS OR IN EN-BLOC CLIPS IS NOT 
CONSIDERED AMMUNITION THAT IS LOADED 
INTO A MAGAZINE OR SPEED LOADER. 

B.      “UNLOADED” MEANS, [W]with respect to a firearm  
employing a percussion cap, flintlock, or other obsolete ignition 
system, when the weapon is uncapped or when the priming charge 
is removed from the pan. 

(3) “Commercial motor vehicle” has the same meaning as in Ohio  
 R.C. 4506.25(A). 

  (4) “Motor carrier enforcement unit” means the motor carrier enforcement 
unit in the Department of Public Safety, Division of State Highway Patrol, 
that is created by Ohio R.C. 5503.34.  
[(Ord. 102-11.  Passed 10-11-11.)] 

(i) SUBSECTION (h)(2) OF THIS SECTION DOES NOT AFFECT THE 
AUTHORITY OF A PERSON WHO IS CARRYING A VALID CONCEALED 
HANDGUN LICENSE TO HAVE ONE OR MORE MAGAZINES OR SPEED LOADERS 
CONTAINING AMMUNITION ANYWHERE IN A VEHICLE, WITHOUT BEING 
TRANSPORTED AS DESCRIBED IN THAT SUBSECTION, AS LONG AS NO 
AMMUNITION IS IN A FIREARM, OTHER THAN A HANDGUN, IN THE VEHICLE 
OTHER THAN AS PERMITTED UNDER ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS 
CHAPTER OR OHIO R.C. CHAPTER 2923.  A PERSON WHO IS CARRYING A 
VALID CONCEALED HANDGUN LICENSE MAY HAVE ONE OR MORE 
MAGAZINES OR SPEED LOADERS CONTAINING AMMUNITION ANYWHERE IN 
A VEHICLE WITHOUT FURTHER RESTRICTION, AS LONG AS NO AMMUNITION 
IS IN A FIREARM, OTHER THAN A HANDGUN, IN THE VEHICLE OTHER THAN 
AS PERMITTED UNDER ANY PROVISION OF THIS CHAPTER OR OHIO R.C. 
CHAPTER 2923.  (ORC 2923.16) 

 














































	Regular Agenda for January 13, 2014
	Regular Meeting Minutes December 9, 2013
	New Business 
	Community & Public Relations Committee
	Council Committee assignments and appointments

	Public Safety Committee
	Liquor Permit Application - Applebee's
	Update of Traffic and General Offenses Codes
	Public Defender Agreement for 2014

	Public Utilities Committee
	Resolution to allow Fairfield sewer service

	Public Works Committee
	Resolution of necessity to repair sidewalks

	Finance & Budget Committee
	Non-Contractual Appropriations



